NEIMAN MARCUS GROUP INC Form POS AM October 08, 2010 Table of Contents

As filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 8, 2010

Registration No. 333-136297

# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

Post-Effective Amendment No. 7

to

# FORM S-1

REGISTRATION STATEMENT

**UNDER** 

THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

THE NEIMAN MARCUS GROUP, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 5311 95-4119509

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

(Primary Standard Industrial Classification Code Number)

(I.R.S. Employer Identification Number)

#### One Marcus Square, 1618 Main Street, Dallas, Texas 75201, (214) 743-7600

(Address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of registrant s principal executive offices)

#### ADDITIONAL REGISTRANT GUARANTOR

Neiman Marcus, Inc. (Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter) **Delaware** (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

5311 (Primary Standard Industrial Classification Code Number) 20-3509435 (I.R.S. Employer Identification Number)

Nelson A. Bangs, Esq.

Robert P. Davis, Esq.

The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc.

Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton LLP

One Marcus Square, 1618 Main Street

One Liberty Plaza

Dallas, Texas 75201

New York, New York 10006

(214) 743-7600

(Name, address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of agent for service)

(212) 225-2670

(Copies of all communications, including communications sent to agent for service)

Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the public:

As soon as practicable after this registration statement becomes effective.

If any of the securities being registered on this Form are to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, check the following box. x

If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

| If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(d) under the Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for  | 5  |
|---|--|
| Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an acceler company. See the definitions of large accelerated filer, accelerated filer and   | rated filer, a non-accelerated filer or a smaller reporting smaller reporting company in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. |
| Large accelerated filer o   | Accelerated filer o  |
| Non-accelerated filer x (Do not check if a smaller reporting company)   | Smaller reporting company o  |
| The registrants hereby amend this Registration Statement on such date or dat registrants shall file a further amendment which specifically states that this Reaccordance with Section 8(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 or until this Registra SEC, acting pursuant to said Section 8(a), may determine. | egistration Statement shall thereafter become effective in   |
|   |  |

#### **Table of Contents**

The information in this prospectus is not complete and may be changed. We may not sell these securities until the registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission is effective. This prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities and we are not soliciting an offer to buy these securities in any state where the offer or sale is not permitted.

#### PRELIMINARY PROSPECTUS

Subject to Completion, dated , 2010

The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc

7.125% Senior Debentures due 2028

The 7.125% senior debentures due 2028 ( the 2028 debentures ) will mature on June 1, 2028. Interest on the 2028 debentures is payable on each June 1 and December 1. The 2028 debentures are our senior obligations and rank equal in right of payment with all of our existing and future senior indebtedness, senior to all of our existing and future subordinated indebtedness, and effectively junior to all of our existing and future indebtedness that is secured by collateral that does not also secure the 2028 debentures, to the extent of the value of such assets securing such other obligations.

The 2028 debentures were unsecured when originally issued, but were granted security pursuant to the requirements of the negative pledge covenant contained in the indenture governing the 2028 debentures, as a result of our incurrence of secured indebtedness in the Transactions (as defined below). The 2028 debentures are currently equally and ratably secured by a first lien security interest on specified collateral that also secures our senior secured credit facilities. Because the 2028 debentures—security interest on the specified collateral has been granted only for purposes of compliance with the negative pledge covenant contained in the indenture governing the 2028 debentures, the 2028 debentures are secured only for so long as the senior secured credit facilities (or other secured indebtedness subject to the 2028 debentures—negative pledge clause) and the liens thereunder remain in existence and the specified collateral is subject to release under the senior secured credit facilities without the consent of holders of the 2028 debentures.

Neiman Marcus, Inc. (formerly known as Newton Acquisition, Inc.), our parent company ( Parent ), has unconditionally guaranteed the 2028 debentures with a guarantee that ranks equal in right of payment to all of its senior indebtedness.

The 2028 debentures are redeemable, in whole or in part, at our option, at any time, at a redemption price equal to the greater of (a) 100% of the principal amount of such debentures and (b) the sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled payments, discounted on a semiannual basis at the treasury rate determined as described in this prospectus plus 20 basis points, plus accrued interest to the date of redemption.

The 2028 debentures are represented by global debentures registered in the name of The Depository Trust Company.

You should consider carefully the Risk Factors beginning on page 11 of this prospectus.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

This prospectus will be used by Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC in connection with offers and sales in market making transactions at negotiated prices related to prevailing market prices. There is currently no public market for the securities. We do not intend to list the securities on any securities exchange. Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC has advised us that it is currently making a market in the securities; however, it is not obligated to do so and may stop at any time. Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC may act as principal or agent in any such transaction. We will not receive the proceeds of the sale of the securities but will bear the expenses of registration. See Plan of Distribution.

#### **Credit Suisse**

The date of this prospectus is , 2010.

# Table of Contents

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

| Where You Can Find More Information               | 1  |
|---|----|
| Forward-Looking Statements                        | 2  |
| About This Prospectus                             | 5  |
| Summary   | 7  |
| Risk Factors                                      | 11 |
| <u>Use of Proceeds</u>                            | 23 |
| Recent Developments                               | 23 |
| Description of the 2028 Debentures                | 24 |
| Book-Entry, Delivery and Form                     | 35 |
| Plan of Distribution                              | 39 |
| Legal Matters                                     | 39 |
| Experts   | 40 |
| Incorporation of Certain Information by Reference | 40 |
|   |    |

#### **Table of Contents**

#### WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We and our Parent have filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, a registration statement on Form S-1 under the Securities Act with respect to the 2028 debentures. This prospectus, which forms a part of the registration statement, does not contain all of the information set forth in the registration statement. For further information with respect to us and the 2028 debentures, reference is made to the registration statement. Statements contained in this prospectus as to the contents of any contract or other document are not necessarily complete. In addition, we incorporate by reference important information into this prospectus. See Incorporation of Certain Information by Reference.

We file reports and other information with the SEC. The registration statement, such reports and other information can be read and copied at the Public Reference Room of the SEC located at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington D.C. 20549. Copies of such materials, including copies of all or any portion of the registration statement, can be obtained from the Public Reference Room of the SEC at prescribed rates. You can call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 to obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room. Such materials may also be accessed electronically by means of the SEC s home page on the Internet (http://www.sec.gov).

We have agreed under the terms of the 2028 debentures that, even if we are not required under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the Exchange Act ) to furnish reports to the SEC, we will nonetheless continue to furnish information that would be required to be furnished by us on Forms 10-Q, 10-K and 8-K if we were subject to Sections 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act. So long as our Parent is a guarantor, this requirement in respect of the 2028 debentures may be satisfied by the filing of such reports by our Parent, provided that specified consolidating information is provided.

1

#### **Table of Contents**

#### FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus contains forward-looking statements based on estimates and assumptions. Forward-looking statements give our current expectations or forecasts of future events. Forward-looking statements generally can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as may, plan, predict, expect, estimate, intend, would, could, should, anticipate, believe, project or continue or similar words. Any or all of our forward-looking statements in this prospectus may turn out to be incorrect, possibly to a material degree. Such statements can be affected by inaccurate assumptions we might make or by known or unknown risks or uncertainties. Consequently, no forward-looking statement can be guaranteed. Actual results may vary materially from our forward-looking statements. Investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements.

Investors should also understand that it is not possible to predict or identify all the risks and uncertainties that could affect future events and should not consider the following list to be a complete statement of all potential risks and uncertainties. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to:

Political and General Economic Conditions

- weakness in domestic and global capital markets and other economic conditions and the impact of such conditions on our ability to obtain credit;
- current political and general economic conditions or changes in such conditions including relationships between the United States and the countries from which we source our merchandise;
- terrorist activities in the United States and elsewhere;
- political, social, economic, or other events resulting in the short- or long-term disruption in business at our stores, distribution centers or offices:

**Customer Considerations** 

changes in consumer confidence resulting in a reduction of discretionary spending on goods;

changes in the demographic or retail environment;
 changes in consumer preferences or fashion trends;
 changes in our relationships with customers due to, among other things, 1) our failure to provide quality service and competitive loyalty programs, 2) our inability to provide credit pursuant to our proprietary credit card arrangement or 3) our failure to protect customer data or comply with regulations surrounding information security and privacy;

# Table of Contents

| Merchandise       | Procurement and Supply Chain Considerations   |
|-------------------|---|
|                   | nanges in our relationships with designers, vendors and other sources of merchandise, including adverse changes in their financial h flows or available sources of funds; |
|                   | elays in receipt of merchandise ordered due to work stoppages or other causes of delay in connection with either the manufacture of such merchandise;                     |
| • ch              | nanges in foreign currency exchange or inflation rates;   |
| • si              | gnificant increases in paper, printing and postage costs;   |
| Industry and      | Competitive Factors   |
| • covendors or of | ompetitive responses to our loyalty programs, marketing, merchandising and promotional efforts or inventory liquidations by her retailers;                                |
| • ad              | dverse changes in the financial viability of our competitors;   |
| • se              | easonality of the retail business;  |
| • ad              | lverse weather conditions or natural disasters, particularly during peak selling seasons;   |
| • de              | elays in anticipated store openings and renovations;  |
| • 01              | ur success in enforcing our intellectual property rights;   |

| Employee        | Considerations  |
|-----------------|---|
| •               | changes in key management personnel and our ability to retain key management personnel;   |
| •               | changes in our relationships with certain of our key sales associates and our ability to retain our key sales associates;                           |
| Legal and       | Regulatory Issues   |
| •               | changes in government or regulatory requirements increasing our costs of operations;  |
| •               | litigation that may have an adverse effect on our financial results or reputation;  |
| Leverage        | Considerations  |
| •<br>subordinat | the effects of incurring a substantial amount of indebtedness under our senior secured credit facilities and our senior notes and senior ted notes; |
|                 | 3   |
|                 |   |

# Table of Contents

| •              | the ability to refinance our indebtedness under our senior secured credit facilities and the effects of any refinancing;  |
|----------------|---|
| • senior note  | the effects upon us of complying with the covenants contained in our senior secured credit facilities and the indentures governing our es and senior subordinated notes;  |
| • to changes   | restrictions the terms and conditions of the indebtedness under our senior secured credit facilities may place on our ability to respond in our business or to take certain actions;  |
| Other Fac      | tors  |
| •              | impact of funding requirements related to our noncontributory defined benefit pension plan;   |
| • future char  | our ability to provide credit to our customers pursuant to our proprietary credit card program arrangement with HSBC, including any nges in the terms of such arrangement and/or legislation impacting the extension of credit to our customers;  |
| •              | the design and implementation of new information systems as well as enhancements of existing systems; and   |
| •<br>Form 10-F | other risks, uncertainties and factors set forth in this prospectus, including under Risk Factors, and in our Parent s Annual Report on K incorporated by reference herein.   |
| business.      | bing factors are not exhaustive, and new factors may emerge or changes to the foregoing factors may occur that could impact our Except to the extent required by law, we undertake no obligation to update or revise (publicly or otherwise) any forward-looking to reflect subsequent events, new information or future circumstances. |
|                | d review carefully the section captioned Risk Factors in this prospectus for a more complete discussion of the risks of an investment in lebentures.  |

# Table of Contents

# ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS

| •                     | Unless the context otherwise indicates or requires, as used in this prospectus:   |
|-----------------------|---|
| • unless we expres    | the terms we, us, our, Company or Neiman Marcus refer to The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc., and its consolidated subsidial sly state otherwise or the context otherwise requires;   |
| •                     | references to the issuer are to The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc.;  |
| •                     | references to the Parent are to Neiman Marcus, Inc. (formerly known as Newton Acquisition, Inc.);   |
| •                     | the term domestic refers to the United States;  |
| • for the fiscal year | references to the Transactions are to the transactions defined as the Acquisition in our Parent's Annual Report on Form 10-K rended July 31, 2010, which is incorporated by reference in this prospectus;   |
| • 2010 relate to the  | references to any fiscal year are to our fiscal year, which ends on the Saturday closest to July 31 (all references to fiscal year efifty two weeks ended July 31, 2010, and all references to fiscal year 2009 relate to the fifty two weeks ended August 1, 2009;   |
| • and The Bank of     | references to the 2028 debenture indenture are to the Indenture dated May 27, 1998 between The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. New York Trust Company, N.A., as the successor trustee, as amended and supplemented;   |
| _                     | references to the senior secured asset-based revolving credit facility are to our \$600 million senior secured asset-based facility, references to the senior secured term loan facility are to our \$1,975.0 million senior secured term loan facility and senior secured credit facilities are to both such facilities; |
| • notes are to our 9  | references to the senior subordinated notes are to our 10 3/8% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2015, references to the senior 9%/9 3/4% Senior Notes due 2015 and references to the notes are to both such series of notes;   |

| • secured facilities |                     | subsidiary guarantors  | are to the Company     | s subsidiaries that have issued guaranties in respect of the senior   |
|----------------------|---------------------|------------------------|------------------------|---|
| 2005 (as amended     | l, the intercredito |                        | Neiman Marcus, Inc.    | and Security and Intercreditor Agreement dated as of October 6,<br>The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc., the Subsidiaries party thereto<br>supplemented; |
| •<br>Suisse); and    | references to the   | collateral agent are t | o the collateral agent | designated under the intercreditor agreement (initially, Credit   |
|                      |                     |                        | 5                      |   |

# Table of Contents

• references to the closing date are to October 6, 2005, the date of the closing of the acquisition of The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. by Neiman Marcus, Inc. through the merger of Newton Acquisition Merger Sub, Inc. with and into The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of May 1, 2005.

6

#### Table of Contents

#### SUMMARY

The following summary contains selected information about us and about this offering. It likely does not contain all of the information that is important to you. Before you make an investment decision, you should review this prospectus in its entirety, including the documents incorporated herein by reference.

#### The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc.

#### Overview

We are one of the nation s leading luxury retailers, offering distinctive merchandise and excellent customer service that cater to the needs of the affluent consumer. Since our founding in the early 1900s, we have established ourselves as a leading fashion authority among luxury consumers and have become a premier U.S. retail channel for many of the world s most exclusive designers. Currently, we operate 41 Neiman Marcus full-line stores at prime retail locations in major U.S. markets and two Bergdorf Goodman stores on Fifth Avenue in New York City. We also operate catalogs and e-commerce websites under the brands Neiman Marcus®, Bergdorf Goodman® and Horchow®. During fiscal years 2010, 2009 and 2008, we generated revenues of \$3,692.8 million, \$3,643.3 million and \$4,600.5 million, respectively, and operating earnings (loss) of \$231.8 million, \$(652.9) million and \$466.4 million, respectively.

#### **Corporate Information**

The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. is incorporated in the state of Delaware. Our principal executive offices are located at One Marcus Square, 1618 Main Street, Dallas, Texas. Our telephone number is (214) 743-7600. Our website address is www.neimanmarcusgroup.com. The information on our website is not a part of this prospectus.

#### Summary of Terms of the 2028 Debentures

Issuer The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc.

Securities Offered \$125,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 7.125% Debentures due

2028.

Maturity Date The 2028 debentures will mature on June 1, 2028.

Interest Payment Dates June 1 and December 1 of each year.

Optional Redemption At any time, we may redeem some or all of the 2028 debentures, at a

redemption price equal to the greater of (a) 100% of the principal

amount of the 2028 debentures to be redeemed and (b) the sum of the present values of the Remaining Scheduled Payments (as defined herein) discounted to the redemption date on a

7

#### Table of Contents

semiannual basis (assuming a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months) at the Treasury Rate plus 20 basis, plus accrued interest on the principal amount being redeemed to the date of redemption. See Description of the 2028 Debentures Optional Redemption.

The 2028 debentures are guaranteed on an unsecured, senior basis by our Parent.

The 2028 debentures are our senior obligations and rank:

- equal in right of payment with all of our existing and future senior indebtedness, including any borrowings under our senior secured credit facilities and the senior notes; and
- senior to all of our existing and future subordinated indebtedness, including the senior subordinated notes.

The 2028 debentures are structurally subordinated to indebtedness and other liabilities of our subsidiaries (except to the extent of any security interest in the assets of any subsidiaries that may secure the 2028 debentures), including trade payables and subsidiary guarantees of our senior secured credit facilities and the notes. The 2028 debentures effectively rank junior to all of our existing and future indebtedness, including our senior secured credit facilities, that is secured by collateral that does not also secure the 2028 debentures, to the extent of the value of such assets securing such other obligations.

The 2028 debentures were unsecured when originally issued, but were granted security pursuant to the requirements of the negative pledge covenant contained in the 2028 debenture indenture as a result of our incurrence of secured indebtedness in the

8

Guarantees

Ranking

Collateral

#### Table of Contents

Restrictive Covenants

Transactions. The 2028 debentures are currently equally and ratably secured by a first lien security interest on the 2028 Debenture Collateral (as defined under Description of the 2028 Debentures Collateral), which also secures our senior secured credit facilities. Because the 2028 debentures security interest on the 2028 Debenture Collateral has been granted only for purposes of compliance with the negative pledge covenant contained in the 2028 debenture indenture, the 2028 debentures are secured only for so long as the senior secured credit facilities (or other secured indebtedness subject to the 2028 debentures negative pledge clause) and the liens thereunder remain in existence and the 2028 Debenture Collateral is subject to release under the senior secured credit facilities without the consent of holders of the 2028 debentures. See Description of the 2028 Debentures Collateral.

The 2028 debenture indenture contains covenants limiting pledges and sale/leaseback transactions as described under Description of the 2028 Debentures Certain Covenants. Many of the covenants found in our senior secured credit facilities and the indentures governing our notes, however, are not found in the 2028 debenture indenture. The 2028 debenture indenture does not contain limitations on our or our subsidiaries ability to: incur additional indebtedness; pay dividends on our capital stock or redeem, repurchase or retire our capital stock or indebtedness; make investments; create restrictions on the payment of dividends or other amounts to us from our restricted subsidiaries; engage in transactions with our affiliates; or sell assets, including capital stock of our subsidiaries.

#### **Risk Factors**

Investing in the 2028 debentures involves substantial risk. See Risk Factors for a discussion of certain factors that you should consider before investing in the 2028 debentures.

9

#### Table of Contents

### **Recent Developments**

On October 7, 2010, we announced preliminary total revenues and comparable revenues of approximately \$371 million and \$370 million, respectively, for the five-week period ended October 2, 2010. In the five-week September period of fiscal year 2011, total revenues increased 4.9% and comparable revenues increased 4.7% compared to the five-week September period of fiscal year 2010. Comparable revenues increased 3.3% in our Specialty Retail stores and increased 12.4% in our Direct Marketing operation for the five-week September period of fiscal year 2011.

All the financial data set forth above for the five-week period ending October 2, 2010 are preliminary and unaudited and subject to revision based upon our review and a review by our independent registered public accounting firm of our financial condition and results of operations for the quarter ending October 30, 2010. Once we and our independent registered public accounting firm have completed our respective reviews of our financial information for the quarter ending October 30, 2010, we may report financial results that are different from those set forth above.

10

#### **Table of Contents**

#### RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the risk factors set forth below and the risk factors included under Part I, Item 1A to our Parent s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2010, which is incorporated by reference in this prospectus, as well as the other information contained in this prospectus and in our Parent s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2010 before making an investment decision. The risks described below are not the only risks facing us. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or those we currently deem to be immaterial may also materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. Any of the following risks could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. In such a case, you may lose all or part of your original investment in the 2028 debentures.

#### Risks Related to the 2028 Debentures

We have a substantial amount of indebtedness, which may adversely affect our cash flow and our ability to operate our business, to comply with debt covenants and make payments on our indebtedness, including the 2028 debentures.

As a result of the Transactions, we are highly leveraged. As of July 31, 2010, the principal amount of our total indebtedness was approximately \$2,891.0 million, which included the 2028 debentures. Our unused borrowing availability under our \$600 million senior secured asset-based revolving credit facility at that date was \$508.9 million and the outstanding letters of credit were \$31.1 million. As of July 31, 2010, we had no borrowings outstanding under this facility. Our substantial indebtedness, combined with our lease and other financial obligations and contractual commitments, could have other important consequences to you as a holder of the 2028 debentures. For example, it could:

- make it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations with respect to our indebtedness, including the 2028 debentures, and any failure to comply with the obligations of any of our debt instruments, including restrictive covenants and borrowing conditions, could result in an event of default under the indentures and agreements governing our indebtedness;
- make us more vulnerable to adverse changes in general economic, industry and competitive conditions and adverse changes in government regulation;
- require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on our indebtedness, thereby reducing the availability of our cash flows to fund working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions and other general corporate purposes;
- limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we operate;

• place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that are less highly leveraged;

#### **Table of Contents**

| <ul> <li>limit our ability to obtain credit from our vendors and / or the vendors factors</li> </ul> | and other financing sources; and |
|--|----------------------------------|
|--|----------------------------------|

• limit our ability to borrow additional amounts for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, debt service requirements, execution of our business strategy or other purposes.

Any of the above listed factors could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, our interest expense could increase if interest rates increase because the entire amount of the indebtedness under our senior secured credit facilities will bear interest at floating rates. As of July 31, 2010, we had approximately \$1,513.4 million principal amount of floating rate debt, consisting of outstanding borrowings under the senior secured term loan facility (including \$7.6 million of borrowings classified as current liabilities).

Effective December 2005, we entered into floating to fixed interest rate swap agreements for an aggregate notional amount of \$1,000.0 million to limit our exposure to interest rate increases related to a portion of our floating rate indebtedness. The interest rate swap agreements expire in December 2010.

In addition to interest rate swap agreements, we also use interest rate cap agreements to manage our floating rate debt. Effective January 2010, we entered into interest rate cap agreements for an aggregate notional amount of \$500.0 million in order to hedge the variability of our cash flows related to a portion of our floating rate indebtedness once the interest rate swap agreements expire in December 2010. The interest rate cap agreements commence in December 2010 and expire in December 2012. Pursuant to the interest rate cap agreements, we have capped LIBOR at 2.50% through December 2012 with respect to the \$500.0 million notional amount of such agreements. In the event LIBOR is less than 2.50%, we will pay interest at the lower LIBOR rate. In the event LIBOR is higher than 2.50%, we will pay interest at the capped rate of 2.50%.

Despite current indebtedness levels, we and our subsidiaries may still be able to incur substantially more debt. This could further exacerbate the risks associated with our substantial leverage.

We and our subsidiaries may be able to incur substantial additional indebtedness in the future. Although the indentures governing the notes and the senior secured credit facilities contain restrictions on the incurrence of additional indebtedness, these restrictions are subject to a number of significant qualifications and exceptions, and any indebtedness incurred in compliance with these restrictions could be substantial. For example, we have the right under our senior secured asset-based revolving credit facility to request up to \$300 million of additional commitments or new term loans under this facility (provided that the aggregate amount of loans and commitments does not exceed \$800.0 million), although the lenders under this facility are not under any obligation to provide any such additional commitments. Any increase in commitments or new term loans under this facility are subject to customary conditions precedent, and our ability to borrow revolving loans under this facility as so increased would remain limited

#### Table of Contents

by the amount of the borrowing base. Our senior secured term loan facilities and the indentures for the notes allow us to incur this additional indebtedness under our senior secured asset-based revolving credit facility without any restriction. In addition, our senior secured credit facilities and the notes allow us to incur a significant amount of indebtedness in connection with acquisitions (including, in the case of our senior secured term loan facility and the notes, an unlimited amount of debt bearing certain characteristics described in the descriptions of the notes included herein) and a significant amount of purchase money debt. If new debt is added to our and our subsidiaries current debt levels, the related risks that we and they face would be increased.

To service our indebtedness, we will require a significant amount of cash. Our ability to generate cash depends on many factors beyond our control, and any failure to meet our debt service obligations could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our ability to pay interest on and principal of the 2028 debentures and to satisfy our other debt obligations will primarily depend upon our future operating performance. As a result, prevailing economic conditions and financial, business and other factors, many of which are beyond our control, will affect our ability to make these payments.

If we do not generate sufficient cash flow from operations to satisfy our debt service obligations, including payments on the 2028 debentures, we may have to undertake alternative financing plans, such as refinancing or restructuring our indebtedness, selling assets, reducing or delaying capital investments or seeking to raise additional capital. Our ability to restructure or refinance our debt will depend on the condition of the capital markets and our financial condition at such time. Any refinancing of our debt could be at higher interest rates and may require us to comply with more onerous covenants, which could further restrict our business operations. The terms of existing or future debt instruments and indentures may restrict us from adopting some of these alternatives. In addition, our borrowing costs and ability to refinance may be affected by short-term and long-term debt ratings assigned by independent rating agencies, which are based, in significant part, on our performance as measured by indictors such as interest coverage and leverage ratios. Furthermore, any failure to make payments of interest and principal on our outstanding indebtedness on a timely basis would likely result in a reduction of our credit rating, which could harm our ability to incur additional indebtedness on acceptable terms.

Contractual limitations on our ability to execute any necessary alternative financing plans could exacerbate the effects of any failure to generate sufficient cash flow to satisfy our debt service obligations. Our senior secured asset-based revolving credit facility permits us to borrow up to \$600.0 million; however, our ability to borrow and obtain letters of credit (including amendments, renewals and extensions of letters of credit) thereunder is limited by a borrowing base, which at any time will equal the sum of (a) the lesser of (i) 80% of eligible inventory valued at the lower of cost or market value and (ii) 85% of the net orderly liquidation value of the eligible inventory, and (b) 85% of the amounts owed by credit card processors to the borrowers under our asset-based revolving credit facility in respect of eligible credit card accounts constituting proceeds arising from the sale or disposition of inventory, less certain reserves. In addition, if at any time the aggregate amount of outstanding revolving loans and incremental term loans, unreimbursed letter of credit drawings and undrawn letters of credit under our senior secured asset-based revolving credit facility exceeds the value of inventory as

#### **Table of Contents**

calculated under that facility, we will be required to eliminate that excess. Further, if (a) the amount available under the facility is less than the greater of (i) 20% of the lesser of (A) the aggregate revolving commitments and (B) the borrowing base and (ii) \$75 million or (b) an event of default has occurred, we will be required to repay outstanding loans and cash collateralize letters of credit. In addition, under the terms of the asset-based revolving credit facility, through April 30, 2011 we are required to maintain excess availability of at least the greater of (a) 10% of the lesser of (i) the aggregate revolving commitments and (ii) the borrowing base and (b) \$50 million. After April 30, 2011, if at any time, excess availability is less than the greater of (a) 15% of the lesser of (i) the aggregate revolving commitments and (ii) the borrowing base and (b) \$60 million, we will be required to maintain a pro forma ratio of consolidated EBITDA to consolidated Fixed Charges (as such terms are defined in the credit agreement) of at least 1.1 to 1.0. Our ability to meet the conditions described in this paragraph may be affected by events beyond our control.

Our inability to generate sufficient cash flow to satisfy our debt service obligations, or to refinance our obligations at all or on commercially reasonable terms, would have an adverse effect, which could be material, on our business, financial condition and results of operations, as well as on our ability to satisfy our obligations in respect of the 2028 debentures.

Repayment of our debt, including the 2028 debentures, is dependent on cash flow generated by our subsidiaries.

Our subsidiaries own a significant portion of our assets and conduct a significant portion of our operations. Accordingly, repayment of our indebtedness, including the 2028 debentures, is dependent, to a significant extent, on the generation of cash flow by our subsidiaries and their ability to make such cash available to us, by dividend, debt repayment or otherwise. Our subsidiaries do not have any obligation to pay amounts due on the 2028 debentures or to make funds available for that purpose. Our subsidiaries may not be able to, or may not be permitted to, make distributions to enable us to make payments in respect of our indebtedness, including the 2028 debentures. Each subsidiary is a distinct legal entity and, under certain circumstances, legal and contractual restrictions may limit our ability to obtain cash from our subsidiaries. The 2028 debenture indenture does not limit the ability of our subsidiaries to incur consensual restrictions on their ability to pay dividends or make other intercompany payments to us. In the event that we do not receive distributions from our subsidiaries, we may be unable to make required principal and interest payments on our indebtedness, including the 2028 debentures.

The 2028 debentures are structurally subordinated to all liabilities of our subsidiaries and to claims of creditors of our current and future subsidiaries.

The 2028 debentures are structurally subordinated to indebtedness and other liabilities of our subsidiaries (except to the extent of any security interest in the assets of any such subsidiaries that may secure the 2028 debentures), including subsidiary guarantees of our senior secured credit facilities and the notes. In the event of a bankruptcy, liquidation or reorganization of any of our subsidiaries, these subsidiaries will pay the holders of their debts, holders of preferred equity interests and their trade creditors before they will be able to distribute any of their assets to us (except to the extent of any security interest in the assets of any such subsidiaries that may secure the 2028 debentures).

# Table of Contents

| The terms   | of our | senior    | secured  | credit j | facilities | and the | indentures   | governing    | the notes | may | restrict d | our curren | ıt and | future ( | operations, |
|-------------|--------|-----------|----------|----------|------------|---------|--------------|--------------|-----------|-----|------------|------------|--------|----------|-------------|
| particulari | lv our | ahility t | o respon | ıd to ch | anges in   | our bus | siness or to | take certair | actions.  |     |            |            |        |          |             |

The credit agreements governing our senior secured credit facilities and the indentures governing the notes contain, and any future indebtedness of ours would likely contain, a number of restrictive covenants that impose significant operating and financial restrictions, including restrictions on our ability to engage in acts that may be in our best long-term interests. The indentures governing the notes and the credit agreements governing our senior secured credit facilities include covenants that, among other things, restrict our ability to:

| • | incur additional indebtedness;   |
|---|--|
| • | pay dividends on our capital stock or redeem, repurchase or retire our capital stock or indebtedness;    |
| • | make investments;  |
| • | create restrictions on the payment of dividends or other amounts to us from our restricted subsidiaries; |
| • | engage in transactions with our affiliates;  |
| • | sell assets, including capital stock of our subsidiaries;  |
| • | consolidate or merge;  |
| • | create liens; and  |
| • | enter into sale and lease back transactions.   |

In addition, our ability to borrow under our senior secured asset based revolving credit facility is limited by the conditions as described above under To service our indebtedness, we will require a significant amount of cash. Our ability to generate cash depends on many factors beyond our control, and any failure to meet our debt service obligations could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Moreover, our senior secured asset based revolving credit facility provides discretion to the agent bank acting on behalf of the lenders to impose additional availability restrictions and other reserves, which could materially impair the amount of borrowings that would otherwise be available to us. There can be no assurance that the agent bank will not impose such reserves or, were it to do so, that the resulting impact of this action would not materially and adversely impair our liquidity.

A breach of any of the restrictive covenants would result in a default under our senior secured credit facilities. If any such default occurs, the lenders under our senior secured credit facilities may elect to declare all outstanding borrowings under such facilities, together with accrued interest and other fees, to be immediately due and payable, which would result in an

#### Table of Contents

event of default under the notes and the 2028 debentures. The lenders would also have the right in these circumstances to terminate any commitments they have to provide further borrowings.

The operating and financial restrictions and covenants in these debt agreements and any future financing agreements may adversely affect our ability to finance future operations or capital needs or to engage in other business activities.

The 2028 debentures are secured only for so long as the senior secured credit facilities and the liens thereunder remain in existence and the 2028 Debenture Collateral is subject to release by the senior secured credit facilities without the consent of holders of the 2028 debentures.

The 2028 debentures were unsecured when originally issued, but were granted security pursuant to the requirements of the negative pledge covenant contained in the 2028 debenture indenture as a result of our incurrence of secured indebtedness in the Transactions. The 2028 debentures are currently equally and ratably secured by a first lien security interest on the 2028 Debenture Collateral, which also secures our senior secured credit facilities. Because the 2028 debentures—security interest on the 2028 Debenture Collateral has been granted only for purposes of compliance with the negative pledge covenant contained in the 2028 debenture indenture, the 2028 debentures are secured only for so long as the senior secured credit facilities (or other secured indebtedness subject to the 2028 debentures—negative pledge clause) and the liens thereunder remain in existence and the 2028 Debenture Collateral is subject to release under the senior secured credit facilities without the consent of holders of the 2028 debentures. See—Description of the 2028 Debentures—Collateral.

The senior secured credit facilities are scheduled to mature prior to the stated maturity of the 2028 debentures and the 2028 debentures will be unsecured after the senior secured credit facilities mature unless we have other secured indebtedness subject to the 2028 debentures negative pledge clause at that time.

The 2028 Debenture Collateral will exclude stock with value equal to or greater than 20% of the aggregate principal amount of the 2028 debentures or other secured public debt obligations.

Capital stock and other securities of a subsidiary of the Company that are owned by the Company or any subsidiary guarantor of the senior secured credit facilities does not constitute 2028

Debenture Collateral) to the extent that such securities cannot secure the 2028 debentures or other secured public debt obligations of the Company without requiring the preparation and filing of separate financial statements of such subsidiary in accordance with applicable SEC rules. As a result, the collateral under our senior secured credit facilities and the 2028 Debenture Collateral includes shares of capital stock or other securities of subsidiaries of the Company or any subsidiary guarantor only to the extent that the applicable value of such securities (on a subsidiary-by-subsidiary basis) is less than 20% of the aggregate principal amount of the 2028 debentures (or, currently, \$25 million) or other secured public debt obligations of the Company. Accordingly, holders of the 2028 debentures should assume that the value of any 2028 Debenture Collateral consisting of capital stock or other securities of a subsidiary of the Company will not be material.

#### **Table of Contents**

The pro rata share of the 2028 debentures in the 2028 Debenture Collateral may not be sufficient collateral to pay all or any of the 2028 debentures.

The 2028 debentures—security interest in the 2028 Debenture Collateral is shared equally and ratably with the first lien security interest on that collateral of the lenders under our senior secured term loan facility and is senior to the second priority security interest on that collateral of the lenders under our senior secured asset based revolving credit facility (although if the lien of the lenders under our senior secured term loan facility were to be released, without replacement, while our senior secured asset based revolving credit facility remains outstanding, the lien of the lenders under our senior secured asset based revolving credit facility would become a first priority lien and the 2028 debentures—security interest in the 2028 Debenture Collateral would then be shared equally and ratably with the lenders under our senior secured asset based revolving credit facility).

No appraisal of the fair market value of the 2028 Debenture Collateral has been prepared in connection with this offering, however we believe that the fair market value of the 2028 Debenture Collateral is substantially less than the principal amount of our new senior secured term loan facility and our existing 2028 debentures taken together. The actual value of the 2028 Debenture Collateral at any time will depend upon market and other economic conditions. By its nature, the 2028 Debenture Collateral generally will consist of illiquid assets that may have to be sold at a substantial discount in an insolvency situation and may have no readily ascertainable market value.

In the event of a foreclosure, liquidation, bankruptcy or similar proceeding, the proceeds from any sale or liquidation of the 2028 Debenture Collateral will likely be insufficient to pay our obligations under the 2028 debentures and our new senior secured term loan facility in full. Moreover, other indebtedness we may incur in the future may be secured on a first priority basis by all or a portion of the 2028 Debenture Collateral, further limiting the amount of 2028 Debenture Collateral that would be available to pay obligations under the 2028 debentures. The 2028 Debenture Collateral also secures our new senior secured asset based revolving credit facility on a second priority basis (subject to permitted encumbrances).

The intercreditor agreement entered into in connection with collateral arrangements related to the Transactions provides that each holder of 2028 debentures, by accepting the agreement s benefits, is deemed to have:

- agreed that the collateral agent has no duty and owes no obligation or responsibility (fiduciary or otherwise) to the 2028 debenture trustee or such holders, other than the duty to perform its express obligations under the intercreditor agreement in accordance with its terms;
- waived any right it might have, under applicable law or otherwise, to compel the sale or other disposition of any 2028 Debenture Collateral, and any obligation the collateral agent might have, under applicable law or otherwise, to obtain any minimum price for any 2028 Debenture Collateral upon the sale thereof; and

#### Table of Contents

• agreed that the sole right of the holders of the 2028 debentures shall be to receive their ratable share of any proceeds of 2028 Debenture Collateral in accordance with and subject to the provisions of the related documentation.

In the event of a default, including a bankruptcy involving the Company, we will not be able to control or direct the actions that our creditors under our senior secured credit facilities may take with respect to any 2028 Debenture Collateral or assure you that such actions will not be adverse to the interests of the holders of the 2028 debentures.

In the event of our bankruptcy, the ability of the holders of the 2028 debentures to realize upon the 2028 Debenture Collateral will be subject to certain bankruptcy law limitations.

The right of the collateral agent to repossess and dispose of the 2028 Debenture Collateral upon acceleration is likely to be significantly impaired by Federal bankruptcy law if bankruptcy proceedings were commenced by or against us prior to or possibly even after the collateral agent has repossessed and disposed of the 2028 Debenture Collateral. Under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code, a secured creditor, such as the collateral agent, is prohibited from repossessing its security from a debtor in a bankruptcy case, or from disposing of security repossessed from such a debtor, without bankruptcy court approval. Moreover, bankruptcy laws permits the debtor to continue to retain and use collateral, and the proceeds, products, rents or profits of the collateral, even though the debtor is in default under the applicable debt instruments, provided generally that the secured creditor is given adequate protection. The meaning of the term adequate protection may vary according to circumstances, but it is intended in general to protect the value of the secured creditor s interest in the collateral and may include cash payments or the granting of additional security, if and at such times as the court in its discretion determines, for any diminution in the value of the collateral as a result of the stay of repossession or disposition or any use of the collateral by the debtor during the pendency of the bankruptcy case. In view of the lack of a precise definition of the term adequate protection and the broad discretionary powers of a bankruptcy court, it is impossible to predict how long payments under the 2028 debentures could be delayed following commencement of and during a bankruptcy case, whether or when the collateral agent would repossess or dispose of the 2028 Debenture Collateral or whether or to what extent holders of 2028 debentures would be compensated for any delay in payment or loss of value of their pro rata share of the 2028 Debenture Collateral through the requirement of adequate protection. Furthermore, in the event the bankruptcy court were to determine that the value of 2028 debentures pro rata share of the 2028 Debenture Collateral is insufficient to repay all amounts due on the 2028 debentures, the holders of the 2028 debentures would have undersecured claims as to the difference. Federal bankruptcy laws do not permit the payment or accrual of interest, costs and attorneys fees for undersecured claims during the debtor s bankruptcy case.

In the event of our bankruptcy, holders of the 2028 debentures may be deemed to have an unsecured claim to the extent that our obligations in respect of the 2028 debentures exceed the fair value of their pro rata share of the 2028 Debenture Collateral.

In any bankruptcy proceeding with respect to us, it is possible that the bankruptcy trustee, the debtor-in-possession or competing creditors will assert that the fair market value of the 2028 debentures pro rata share of the 2028 Debenture Collateral on the date of the bankruptcy filing

#### **Table of Contents**

was less than the then-current principal amount of the 2028 debentures. Upon a finding by the bankruptcy court that the 2028 debentures are under collateralized, the claims in the bankruptcy proceeding with respect to the 2028 debentures would be bifurcated between a secured claim and an unsecured claim, and the unsecured claim would not be entitled to the benefits of security in the 2028 Debenture Collateral. Other consequences of a finding of under collateralization would be, among other things, a lack of entitlement on the part of the 2028 debentures to receive post-petition interest and a lack of entitlement on the part of the unsecured portion of the 2028 debentures to receive other adequate protection under federal bankruptcy laws.

In addition, any payments to the holders of the 2028 debentures that have been made within 90 days prior to the commencement of a bankruptcy proceeding with respect to us (or, if such payments are made by the Guarantor, with respect to the Guarantor) may be treated by the bankruptcy court as a voidable preference if the 2028 debentures are under-collateralized and such payments could be required to be returned to be included in the bankruptcy estate. The holders of the 2028 debentures would still have an unsecured claim (to the extent under-collateralized) against the bankruptcy estate in the amount of such payment if the court finds a voidable preference. Additionally, any new collateral included in the 2028 Debenture Collateral within 90 days of a bankruptcy proceeding may be also be avoided by the court as a preference. If the court avoids any payments or pledges of collateral as preferences, it is possible that the holders of the 2028 debentures may not receive full payment of amounts due under the 2028 debentures. Furthermore, if any payments of post-petition interest had been made at the time of such a finding of under-collateralization, those payments might be recharacterized by the bankruptcy court as a reduction of the principal amount of the secured claim with respect to the 2028 debentures.

Federal and state statutes may allow courts, under specific circumstances, to void the security interest in the 2028 Debenture Collateral.

Upon the closing of the Transactions, we and certain of our existing subsidiaries have pledged assets, and certain of our future subsidiaries may pledge assets, to secure the senior credit facilities, and consequently, also to secure the 2028 debentures. Such granting of liens by us and certain of our subsidiaries may be subject to review under state and federal laws if a bankruptcy, liquidation or reorganization case or a lawsuit, including in circumstances in which bankruptcy is not involved, were commenced by us or a subsidiary grantor, or against us or a subsidiary grantor. Under the Federal bankruptcy laws and comparable provisions of state fraudulent transfer and fraudulent conveyance laws, a court may void or otherwise decline to enforce a grantor security interest. The court may void the equal and ratable pledge of the 2028 Debenture Collateral by us or our subsidiaries either as a result of, or independently from, the court voiding the original pledge of collateral to the lenders of the senior secured credit facilities.

While the relevant laws may vary from state to state, a court might void or otherwise decline to enforce the pledge of the security interest if it found that when the applicable grantor pledged its assets or, in some states, at the time that the trustee for the 2028 debentures made a claim against the pledge, we or the applicable grantor received less than reasonably equivalent value or fair consideration and either:

# Table of Contents

| • we were, or the applicable grantor was, insolvent, or rendered insolvent by reason of such incurrence; or   |
|---|
| • we were, or the applicable grantor was, engaged in a business or transaction for which our or the applicable grantor s remaining assets constituted unreasonably small capital; or  |
| • we or the applicable grantor intended to incur, or believed or reasonably should have believed that we or the applicable grantor would incur, debts beyond our or such grantor s ability to pay such debts as they mature; or   |
| • we were, or the applicable grantor was, a defendant in an action for money damages, or had a judgment for money damages docketed against us or such grantor if, in either case, after final judgment, the judgment is unsatisfied.  |
| The court might also void a security interest without regard to the above factors, if the court found that we or the applicable grantor pledged assets with actual intent to hinder, delay or defraud our or its creditors.   |
| A court would likely find that we or a grantor did not receive reasonably equivalent value or fair consideration for a pledge of assets if we or such grantor did not substantially benefit directly or indirectly from the execution of the senior secured credit facility or the applicable pledge. As a general matter, value is given for a loan if, in exchange for the loan, property is transferred or an antecedent debt is satisfied. A debtor will generally not be considered to have received value in connection with a debt offering if the debtor uses the proceeds of that offering to make a dividend payment or otherwise retire or redeem equity securities issued by the debtor. For example, in a leveraged transaction, such as the Transactions, there is increased risk of a determination that the issuer incurred debt obligations for less than reasonably equivalent value or fair consideration as a court may find that the benefit of the transaction went to the former stockholders of The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc., while neither we nor the affiliated grantors benefited substantially or directly from the pledges of assets. |
| The measures of insolvency applied by courts will vary depending upon the particular fraudulent transfer law applied in any proceeding to determine whether a fraudulent transfer has occurred. Generally, however, an entity would be considered insolvent if:   |
| • the sum of its debts, including subordinated and contingent liabilities, was greater than the fair saleable value of its assets; or   |
| • if the present fair saleable value of its assets were less than the amount that would be required to pay the probable liability on its existing debts, including subordinated and contingent liabilities, as they become absolute and mature; or  |

it cannot pay its debts as they become due.

In the event of a finding that a fraudulent conveyance or transfer has occurred, the court may void, or hold unenforceable, the pledge of assets to secure the senior secured credit

20

#### Table of Contents

facilities, which could mean that neither the senior secured credit facilities nor the 2028 debentures would be secured by the 2028 Debenture Collateral. Consequently, you may no longer have rights to receive any proceeds from the 2028 Debenture Collateral. Furthermore, the avoidance of a security interest could result in an event of default with respect to our and our guarantors—other debt that could result in acceleration of such debt (if not otherwise accelerated due to our or our guarantors—insolvency or other proceeding).

Rights of holders of 2028 debentures in the collateral may be adversely affected by the failure to perfect security interests in certain collateral acquired in the future.

Applicable law requires that certain property acquired after the grant of a general security interest can only be perfected at the time such property is acquired and identified. There can be no assurance that the trustee or the collateral agent will monitor, or that we will inform the trustee or the collateral agent of, the future acquisition of property that constitutes collateral, and that the necessary action will be taken to properly perfect the security interest in such after acquired collateral. Such failure may result in the loss of the security interest therein or the priority of the security interest in favor of the 2028 debentures against third parties.

The lenders under our senior secured credit facilities have collateral that is not part of the 2028 Debenture Collateral and are entitled to remedies available to a secured lender, which gives them priority over holders of the 2028 debentures to the extent of such collateral.

The 2028 debentures were unsecured when originally issued, but were granted security pursuant to the requirements of the negative pledge covenant contained in the 2028 debenture indenture as a result of our incurrence of secured indebtedness in the Transactions. The negative pledge covenant contained in the 2028 debenture indenture provides that the Company must secure the 2028 debentures equally and ratably if it creates, assumes or suffers to exist any lien on any Principal Property of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary or shares of capital stock or indebtedness of any Subsidiary, or permits any Restricted Subsidiary to do so, subject to certain exceptions. Because the negative pledge covenant applies only to pledges of Principal Properties and capital stock or indebtedness of subsidiaries of the Company, the 2028 debentures do not share the senior secured credit facilities—lien over certain collateral (such as capital stock of the Company and our intellectual property, inventory and related accounts and cash) that does not fall within these categories. See—Description of the 2028 Debentures—Certain Covenants—Certain Definitions—for definitions of the capitalized terms used in this paragraph.

The 2028 debentures are effectively subordinated in right of payment to all of our secured indebtedness to the extent of the value of assets securing such indebtedness that are not included in the 2028 Debenture Collateral. If we become insolvent or are liquidated, or if payment under the senior secured credit facilities or of any other secured indebtedness is accelerated, the lenders under our senior secured credit facilities and holders of other secured indebtedness (or an agent on their behalf) are entitled to exercise the remedies available to a secured lender under applicable law (in addition to any remedies that may be available under documents pertaining to our senior secured credit facilities or other senior debt). For example, the secured lenders could foreclose and sell those of our assets in which they have been granted a security interest to the exclusion of the holders of the 2028 debentures, even if an event of default exists under the 2028

#### Table of Contents

debenture indenture at that time. As a result, upon the occurrence of any of these events, there may not be sufficient funds to pay amounts due on the 2028 debentures.

We cannot assure you that an active trading market for the 2028 debentures exists or will develop.

We have not had, and do not intend to have, the 2028 debentures listed on a national securities exchange or included in any automated quotation system. We cannot assure you as to the liquidity of markets that exists or may develop for the 2028 debentures, your ability to sell the 2028 debentures or the price at which you would be able to sell the 2028 debentures. The liquidity of any market for the 2028 debentures will depend upon the number of holders of the 2028 debentures, our performance, the market for similar securities, the interest of securities dealers in making a market in the 2028 debentures and other factors. If an active market is not maintained, the price and liquidity of the 2028 debentures may be adversely affected. Even if an active market were available, the 2028 debentures could trade at prices lower than their principal amount or purchase price depending on many factors, including prevailing interest rates and the markets for similar securities. Credit Suisse Securities (USA), LLC has informed us that it intends to make a market in the 2028 debentures, but it is not obligated to do so. Credit Suisse Securities (USA), LLC may discontinue any market making in the 2028 debentures at any time, in its sole discretion. As a result, any trading market for the 2028 debentures may not be liquid. You may not be able to sell your 2028 debentures at a particular time or at favorable prices or at all.

Historically, the market for non-investment grade debt has been subject to disruptions that have caused substantial volatility in the prices of securities similar to the 2028 debentures. We cannot assure holders of the 2028 debentures that the market, if any, for the 2028 debentures will be free from similar disruptions or that any such disruptions may not adversely affect the prices at which the holders of the 2028 debentures may sell their 2028 debentures.

## Table of Contents

#### USE OF PROCEEDS

This prospectus is being delivered in connection with the sale of 2028 debentures by Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC in market-making transactions. We will not receive any proceeds from such transactions.

#### RECENT DEVELOPMENTS

On October 7, 2010, we announced preliminary total revenues and comparable revenues of approximately \$371 million and \$370 million, respectively, for the five-week period ended October 2, 2010. In the five-week September period of fiscal year 2011, total revenues increased 4.9% and comparable revenues increased 4.7% compared to the five-week September period of fiscal year 2010. Comparable revenues increased 3.3% in our Specialty Retail stores and increased 12.4% in our Direct Marketing operation for the five-week September period of fiscal year 2011.

All the financial data set forth above for the five-week period ending October 2, 2010 are preliminary and unaudited and subject to revision based upon our review and a review by our independent registered public accounting firm of our financial condition and results of operations for the quarter ending October 30, 2010. Once we and our independent registered public accounting firm have completed our respective reviews of our financial information for the quarter ending October 30, 2010, we may report financial results that are different from those set forth above.

| Tab] | le of | Contents |
|------|-------|----------|
|      |       |          |

#### **DESCRIPTION OF THE 2028 DEBENTURES**

#### General

In May 1998, The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. issued \$125 million aggregate principal amount of 7.125% senior debentures due 2028. The 2028 debentures were issued under an Indenture dated May 27, 1998 between The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. and The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A., as the successor trustee (as amended and supplemented, the 2028 debenture indenture). The 2028 debenture indenture has been qualified under and is subject to and governed by the Trust Indenture Act of 1939. The terms of the 2028 debentures include those stated in the 2028 debenture indenture and those made part of the 2028 debenture indenture by reference to the Trust Indenture Act.

The 2028 debentures were unsecured when originally issued, but were granted security pursuant to the requirements of the negative pledge covenant contained in the 2028 debenture indenture as a result of our incurrence of secured indebtedness in the Transactions. The 2028 debentures are currently equally and ratably secured by the 2028 Debenture Collateral as described below under Collateral. On July 11, 2006, Neiman Marcus, Inc. executed a guarantee (as described below) of the 2028 debentures in connection with the filing of this registration statement.

The 2028 debentures are our senior obligations and rank equal in right of payment with all of our existing and future senior indebtedness, senior to all of our existing and future subordinated indebtedness, and effectively junior to all of our existing and future indebtedness that is secured by collateral that does not also secure the 2028 debentures, to the extent of the value of such assets securing such other obligations.

In this description, the Company refers to The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc., and not to any of its subsidiaries.

The following description is only a summary of the material provisions of the 2028 debentures and the 2028 debenture indenture. We urge you to read the 2028 debenture indenture because it, and not this description, defines your rights as a holder of 2028 debentures. Copies of the 2028 debenture indenture have been filed with the SEC and are incorporated by reference into the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part.

### Principal, Maturity and Interest

The 2028 debentures are limited to \$125,000,000 aggregate principal amount and mature on June 1, 2028.

The 2028 debentures bear interest at the rate of 7.125% per annum from the most recent Interest Payment Date to which interest has been paid or provided for, payable semiannually in arrears on June 1 and December 1 of each year to the persons in whose names the 2028 debentures are registered at the close of business on the preceding May 15 or November 15, as the case may be.

| Tab: | le o | f Co | ontents |
|------|------|------|---------|
|      |      |      |         |

#### Guarantee

On July 11, 2006, Neiman Marcus, Inc., our Parent, as primary obligor and not merely as surety, irrevocably and unconditionally guaranteed, on a senior unsecured basis, the performance and full and punctual payment when due, whether at maturity, by acceleration or otherwise, of all obligations of the Company under the 2028 debenture indenture and the 2028 debentures, whether for payment of principal of, or interest on the 2028 debentures, expenses, indemnification or otherwise, on the terms set forth in the 2028 debenture indenture by executing the Guarantee.

The Guarantee is a general unsecured senior obligation of our Parent, ranks equal in right of payment with all existing and any future senior indebtedness of our Parent including the guarantees of the senior secured credit facilities and the senior notes, is effectively subordinated to all secured indebtedness of our Parent, including the guarantee of the senior secured credit facilities, and ranks senior in right of payment to all existing and any future subordinated indebtedness of our Parent, including the guarantee of the senior subordinated notes.

The Guarantee of our Parent will automatically and unconditionally be released and discharged upon the exercise by the Company of its legal defeasance option or its covenant defeasance option, as described under Legal Defeasance and Covenant Defeasance or if the Company s obligations under the 2028 debenture indenture are discharged in accordance with the terms of the 2028 debenture indenture.

#### Collateral

The 2028 debentures were unsecured when originally issued.

On October 6, 2005, as a part of the Transactions and in order to comply with the requirements of the negative pledge covenant in the 2028 debenture indenture, the 2028 debentures were equally and ratably secured by a first lien security interest on certain collateral subject to the liens granted under our senior secured credit facilities constituting (a)(i) 100% of the capital stock of certain of the Company s existing and future domestic subsidiaries, and (ii) 100% of the non-voting stock and 65% of the voting stock of certain of the Company s existing and future foreign subsidiaries and (b) certain of the Company s Principal Properties (as defined below under Description of the 2028 Debentures Certain Covenants Certain Definitions ) that included on the closing date of the Transactions a majority of our full-line stores, in each case, to the extent required by the terms of the 2028 debenture indenture (the 2028 Debenture Collateral ).

The 2028 debentures—security interest in the 2028 Debenture Collateral is shared equally and ratably with the first lien security interest on that collateral of the lenders under our senior secured term loan facility and is senior to the second-priority security interest on that collateral of the lenders under our senior secured asset-based revolving credit facility (although if the lien of the lenders under our senior secured term loan facility were to be released, without replacement, while our senior secured asset-based revolving credit facility remains outstanding, the lien of the lenders under our senior secured asset-based revolving credit facility would become a first priority lien and the 2028 debentures—security interest in the 2028 Debenture

## Table of Contents

Collateral would then be shared equally and ratably with the lenders under our senior secured asset-based revolving credit facility).

Capital stock and other securities of a subsidiary of the Company that are owned by the Company or any subsidiary guarantor of the senior secured credit facilities does not constitute 2028
Debenture Collateral) to the extent that such securities cannot secure the 2028 debentures or other secured public debt obligations of the Company without requiring the preparation and filing of separate financial statements of such subsidiary in accordance with applicable SEC rules. As a result, the collateral under our senior secured credit facilities and the 2028 Debenture Collateral includes shares of capital stock or other securities of subsidiaries of the Company or any subsidiary guarantor only to the extent that the applicable value of such securities (on a subsidiary-by-subsidiary basis) is less than 20% of the aggregate principal amount of the 2028 debentures (or, currently, \$25 million) or other secured public debt obligations of the Company. Accordingly, holders of the 2028 debentures should assume that the value of any 2028 Debenture Collateral consisting of capital stock or other securities of a subsidiary of the Company will not be material.

Because the 2028 debentures—security interest on the 2028 Debenture Collateral has been granted only for purposes of compliance with the negative pledge covenant contained in the 2028 debenture indenture, the 2028 debentures are secured only for so long as the senior secured credit facilities (or other secured indebtedness subject to the 2028 debentures—negative pledge clause) and the liens thereunder remain in existence and the 2028 Debenture Collateral is subject to release under the senior secured credit facilities without the consent of holders of the 2028 debentures. In addition, the intercreditor agreement, which was entered into in connection with collateral arrangements related to the Transactions, provides that each holder of 2028 debentures, by accepting the agreement—s benefits, is deemed to have:

- agreed that the collateral agent has no duty and owes no obligation or responsibility (fiduciary or otherwise) to the 2028 debenture trustee or such holders, other than the duty to perform its express obligations under the intercreditor agreement in accordance with its terms;
- waived any right it might have, under applicable law or otherwise, to compel the sale or other disposition of any 2028 Debenture Collateral, and any obligation the collateral agent might have, under applicable law or otherwise, to obtain any minimum price for any 2028 Debenture Collateral upon the sale thereof; and
- agreed that the sole right of the holders of the 2028 debentures shall be to receive their ratable share of any proceeds of 2028 Debenture Collateral in accordance with and subject to the provisions of the related documentation.

The negative pledge covenant pursuant to which the 2028 debentures—security interest in the 2028 Debenture Collateral was granted provides that the Company must secure the 2028 debentures equally and ratably if it creates, assumes or suffers to exist any lien on any Principal Property of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary or shares of capital stock or indebtedness of any Subsidiary, or permits any Restricted Subsidiary to do so, subject to certain exceptions.

#### **Table of Contents**

Because the negative pledge covenant applies only to pledges of Principal Properties and capital stock or indebtedness of subsidiaries of the Company, the 2028 debentures do not share the senior secured credit facilities—lien over certain collateral (such as capital stock of the Company and our intellectual property, inventory and related accounts and cash) that does not fall within these categories. See Description of the 2028 Debentures—Certain Covenants—Certain Definitions—for definitions of the capitalized terms used in this paragraph.

### Ranking

The 2028 debentures are our senior obligations and rank:

- equal in right of payment with all of our existing and future senior indebtedness, including any borrowings under our senior secured credit facilities and the senior notes; and
- senior to all of our existing and future subordinated indebtedness, including the senior subordinated notes.

The 2028 debentures are structurally subordinated to indebtedness and other liabilities of our subsidiaries (except to the extent of any security interest in the assets of any subsidiaries that may secure the 2028 debentures), including trade payables and subsidiary guarantees of our senior secured credit facilities and the notes. The 2028 debentures effectively rank junior to all of our existing and future indebtedness, including our senior secured credit facilities, that is secured by collateral that does not also secure the 2028 debentures, to the extent of the value of such assets securing such other obligations.

#### **Optional Redemption**

The 2028 debentures are redeemable, as a whole or in part, at the option of the Company at any time, at a redemption price equal to the greater of (a) 100% of the principal amount of the 2028 debentures to be redeemed and (b) the sum of the present values of the Remaining Scheduled Payments (as defined below) thereon discounted to the redemption date on a semiannual basis (assuming a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months) at the Treasury Rate plus 20 basis points, plus accrued interest on the principal amount being redeemed to the date of redemption.

Treasury Rate means, with respect to any redemption date, the rate per annum equal to the semiannual equivalent yield to maturity of the Comparable Treasury Issue, assuming a price for the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed as a percentage of its principal amount) equal to the Comparable Treasury Price for such redemption date.

Comparable Treasury Issue means the United States Treasury security selected by an Independent Investment Banker as having a maturity comparable to the remaining term of the 2028 debentures to be redeemed that would be utilized, at the time of selection and in accordance with

customary financial practice, in pricing new issues of corporate debt securities of comparable maturity to the remaining term of such 2028 debentures. Independent Investment Banker means one of the Reference Treasury Dealers appointed by the Company.

#### **Table of Contents**

Comparable Treasury Price means, with respect to any redemption date, (a) the average of the bid and asked prices for the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed in each case as a percentage of its principal amount) on the third business day preceding such redemption date, as set forth in the daily statistical release (or any successor release) published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York and designated Composite 3:30 p.m. Quotations for U.S. Government Securities or (b) if such release (or any successor release) is not published or does not contain such prices on such business day, (i) the average of the Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations for such redemption date, after excluding the highest and lowest such Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations, or (ii) if the Trustee obtains fewer than four such Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations, the average of all such Quotations. Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations means, with respect to each Reference Treasury Dealer and any redemption date, the average, as determined by the Trustee, of the bid and asked prices for the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed in each case as a percentage of its principal amount) quoted in writing to the Trustee by such Reference Treasury Dealer at 5:00 p.m. New York time on the third business day preceding such redemption date.

Reference Treasury Dealer means each of Salomon Brothers Inc, Chase Securities Inc. and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Incorporated, their respective successors and any such other Primary Treasury Dealer as the Company designates; provided, however, that if any of the foregoing shall cease to be a primary U.S. Government securities dealer in New York City (a Primary Treasury Dealer ), the Company shall substitute therefor another Primary Treasury Dealer.

Remaining Scheduled Payments means, with respect to any 2028 debenture, the remaining scheduled payments of the principal thereof to be redeemed and interest thereon that would be due after the related redemption date but for such redemption; provided, however, that, if such redemption date is not an interest payment date with respect to such debentures, the amount of the next succeeding scheduled interest payment thereon will be reduced by the amount of interest accrued thereon to such redemption date.

Notice of any redemption will be mailed at least 30 days but not more than 60 days before the redemption date to each holder of 2028 debentures to be redeemed.

Unless the Company defaults in payment of the redemption price, on and after the applicable redemption date, interest will cease to accrue on the 2028 debentures or portions thereof called for redemption.

### Mergers and Sales of Assets by the Company

The Company may not consolidate with or merge into any other Person or convey, transfer or lease all or substantially all of its assets to any other Person, unless, among other things, (i) the resulting, surviving or transferee Person (if other than the Company) shall be a corporation, partnership or trust organized and validly existing under the laws of the United States or any State thereof or the District of Columbia and shall expressly assume the Company s obligations under the 2028 debentures and the 2028 debenture indenture, and (ii) the Company or such successor Person shall not immediately thereafter be in default under the 2028 debenture indenture. Upon the assumption of the Company s obligations by such a Person in such

## Table of Contents

| circumstances, subject<br>debenture indenture. | t to certain exceptions, the Company shall be discharged from all its obligations under the 2028 debentures and the 2028   |
|--|--|
| Certain Covenants,                             | ions on liens and sale and leaseback transactions set forth in the 2028 debenture indenture and described below under the 2028 debenture indenture and the 2028 debentures do not contain any covenants or other provisions designed to afford tures protection in the event of a highly leveraged transaction involving the Company or any of its subsidiaries. |
| Amendment and Wa                               | iver   |
| the holders of a major                         | 028 debenture indenture or the 2028 debentures through a supplemental indenture may be made only with the consent of ity in principal amount of the 2028 debentures, except in the following circumstances, with respect to which no consent of 8 debentures shall be required:  |
|  | o evidence the succession of another corporation to the Company, and the assumption by any such successor of the pany in the 2028 debenture indenture and in the 2028 debentures;  |
|  | o add to the covenants of the Company, to add to the rights of the holders of the 2028 debentures or to surrender any right debenture indenture conferred upon the Company, for the benefit of the holders of the 2028 debentures;   |
|  | o cure any ambiguity, to correct or supplement any provision in the 2028 debenture indenture which may be inconsistent on in the 2028 debenture indenture, or to make any other provisions with respect to matters or questions arising under the ture;  |
| provisions referred to                         | o add to the 2028 debenture indenture such provisions as may be expressly permitted by the TIA, excluding, however, the in Section 316(a)(2) of the TIA as in effect at the date as of which the 2028 debenture indenture was executed or any on in any similar Federal statute hereafter enacted;   |
| (5) t  | o establish any form of debenture, as provided for in the 2028 debenture indenture;  |
| (6) t  | o evidence and provide for the acceptance of appointment by another corporation as a successor trustee under the 2028  |

debenture indenture and to add to or change any of the provisions of the 2028 debenture indenture as shall be necessary to provide for or

facilitate the administration of the trusts under the 2028 debenture indenture by more than one trustee; or

(7) to add any additional Events of Default in respect of the 2028 debentures; or
 (8) to provide for the issuance of debentures in coupon as well as fully registered form.

## Table of Contents

No supplemental indenture for the purposes identified in Clauses (2), (3) or (7) above may be entered into if to do so would adversely affect the interest of the holders of the 2028 debentures.

Waivers of compliance with any provision of the 2028 debenture indenture or the 2028 debentures may be made only with the consent of the holders of a majority in principal amount of the 2028 debentures. The consent of all holders of debentures will be required to (a) change the stated maturity thereof, (b) reduce the principal amount thereof, (c) reduce the rate, or manner of calculating the same, or change the time or place of payment of interest thereon, or (d) impair the right to institute suit for the payment of principal thereof or interest thereon. The holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of debentures may waive any past default under the 2028 debenture indenture and its consequences, except a default (1) in the payment of the principal of or interest on the 2028 debentures, or (2) in respect of a provision which cannot be waived or amended without the consent of all holders of debentures.

## **Information Concerning the Trustee**

The Company may have banking relationships in the ordinary course of business with The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A., and its affiliates.

#### **Certain Covenants**

The 2028 debenture indenture contains covenants limiting pledges of security and sale/leaseback transactions as described below. Many of the covenants found in our senior secured credit facilities and the indentures governing our notes are not found in the 2028 debenture indenture, which does not contain limitations on our or our subsidiaries ability to:

- incur additional indebtedness;
- pay dividends on our capital stock or redeem, repurchase or retire our capital stock or indebtedness;
- make investments:
- create restrictions on the payment of dividends or other amounts to us from our restricted subsidiaries;
- engage in transactions with our affiliates; or

| • sell assets, including capital stock of our subsidiaries.  |                              |
|--|------------------------------|
| Negative Pledge  |                              |
| The Company shall not create, assume or suffer to exist any lien on any Principal Property (as defined below under | Certain Definitions ) of the |

The Company shall not create, assume or suffer to exist any lien on any Principal Property (as defined below under Certain Definitions) of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary (as defined below under Certain Definitions) or shares of capital stock or indebtedness of any Subsidiary, or permit any Restricted Subsidiary to do so, without securing the 2028 debentures equally and ratably with such debt for so long as such debt shall be so

#### **Table of Contents**

secured, subject to certain exceptions specified in the 2028 debenture indenture. The exceptions are: (a) any lien existing on the date of issuance of the 2028 debentures; (b) liens existing on property owned or leased by, or shares of capital stock or indebtedness of, an entity at the time it becomes a Restricted Subsidiary; (c) liens existing on property at the time of the acquisition or lease thereof by the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary; (d) liens on property of a corporation existing at the time such corporation is merged or consolidated with the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary or at the time of a sale, lease or other disposition of the properties of a corporation as an entirety or substantially as an entirety to the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary; (e) certain liens incurred on capital stock, property or assets to finance the purchase price thereof; (f) certain liens incurred on property or assets to finance the construction, alteration or improvement thereof; (g) any lien securing debt of a Restricted Subsidiary owing to the Company or to another Restricted Subsidiary; (h) any lien in favor of any customer arising in respect of performance deposits and partial, progress, advance or other payments made by or on behalf of such customer, for goods produced or to be produced for or services rendered or to be rendered to such customer in the ordinary course of business, which lien shall not exceed the amount of such deposits or payments; (i) mechanics, workmen s, repairmen s and similar liens arising in the ordinary course of business; (j) liens created or resulting from any litigation or proceedings which are being contested in good faith; liens arising out of judgments or awards against the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary with respect to which the Company or such Restricted Subsidiary is in good faith prosecuting an appeal or proceeding for review; or liens incurred by the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary for the purpose of obtaining a stay or discharge in the course of any legal proceeding to which the Company or such Restricted Subsidiary is a party; (k) any lien for taxes or assessments or governmental charges or levies not yet due or delinquent or which can thereafter be paid without penalty or which are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings; any landlord s lien on property held under lease and tenants rights under leases; easements and any other liens of a nature similar to those hereinabove described in this clause (k) which do not, in the opinion of the Company, materially impair the use of such property in the operation of the business of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary or the value of such property for the purposes of such business; (1) any lien which may be deemed to result from an agreement or commitment to exchange securities of a Subsidiary for other securities of the Company, whether or not such securities of a Subsidiary are placed in escrow for such purpose; (m) certain liens in favor of or required by contracts with governmental entities; (n) any extension, renewal or replacement (or successive extensions, renewals or replacements) in whole or in part of any lien referred to in clauses (a) through (m), so long as the principal amount of the debt secured thereby does not exceed the principal amount of debts so secured at the time of the extension, renewal or replacement (with certain exceptions) and the lien is limited to all or part of the same property subject to the lien so extended, renewed or replaced (plus improvements on the property); and (o) any lien otherwise prohibited by such covenant that secures indebtedness which, together with the aggregate amount of outstanding indebtedness secured by liens otherwise prohibited by such covenant and the value of certain sale and leaseback transactions, does not exceed 15% of the Company s Consolidated Net Assets.

Limitation on Sale and Leasebacks

The Company shall not, and shall not permit any Restricted Subsidiary to, enter into any sale and leaseback transaction covering any Principal Property of the Company or such Restricted Subsidiary unless (a) the Company or such Restricted Subsidiary would be entitled

## Table of Contents

under the provisions described above to incur debt equal to the value of such sale and leaseback transaction, secured by liens on the facilities to be leased, without equally and ratably securing the 2028 debentures, or (b) the Company, during the 180 days following the effective date of such sale and leaseback transaction, applies an amount equal to the value of such sale and leaseback transaction to the voluntary retirement of long-term indebtedness, purchases Principal Property having a fair value at least equal to the value of such sale and leaseback transaction or cancels the 2028 debentures or Funded Debt (as defined in the 2028 debenture indenture) in an aggregate principal amount at least equal to the value of such sale and leaseback transaction.

#### Certain Definitions

The 2028 debenture indenture defines Consolidated Net Assets as the total amount of all assets appearing on the consolidated balance sheet of the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries (at their net book values, after deducting related depreciation, amortization and all other valuation reserves which have been set aside in connection with the business conducted and which are reflected on the aforementioned consolidated balance sheet), less total current liabilities other than long-term liabilities due within one year.

The 2028 debenture indenture defines Restricted Subsidiary as any Subsidiary (which term generally includes majority-owned direct and indirect subsidiaries) of the Company (other than a Subsidiary that is principally engaged in the business of owning or investing in real estate (a Real Estate Subsidiary), finance, credit, leasing, financial services or other similar operations, or any combination thereof), which itself, or with one or more other Restricted Subsidiaries, owns or leases a Principal Property. The 2028 debenture indenture provides, however, that in the event that any Restricted Subsidiary, in a single transaction or through a series of related transactions, shall (i) be consolidated with or merge with or into a Real Estate Subsidiary or any of its subsidiaries or (ii) transfer (by lease, assignment, sale or otherwise) all or substantially all of its properties and assets to a Real Estate Subsidiary, then the term Restricted Subsidiary shall include such Real Estate Subsidiary.

The 2028 debenture indenture defines the term Principal Property as all land, buildings, machinery and equipment, and leasehold interests and improvements in respect of the foregoing, that are located in the United States of America and that would be reflected on the consolidated balance sheet of a Person; provided that such term shall not include any property which the Board of Directors of the Company by resolution determines not to be of material importance to the total business conducted by the Company and its Subsidiaries as an entirety.

There are no other restrictive covenants contained in the 2028 debenture indenture.

### **Events of Default**

Events of Default with respect to the 2028 debentures under the 2028 debenture include: (a) default in the payment of any principal of, or any premium on, the 2028 debentures; (b) default in the payment of any installment of interest on the 2028 debentures and continuance of such default for a period of 30 days; (c) default in the performance of any other covenant in the 2028 debenture indenture or in the 2028 debentures and continuance of such default for a period of 90 days after receipt by the Company of notice of such default from the Trustee or by

#### **Table of Contents**

the Company and the Trustee from the holders of at least 25% in principal amount of debentures; (d) a default under any bond, debenture, note or other evidence of indebtedness for money borrowed by the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary (other than the 2028 debentures), or under any mortgage, indenture or instrument under which there may be secured or evidenced any indebtedness for money borrowed by the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary (other than the 2028 debentures), whether such indebtedness now exists or shall hereafter be created, which default shall have resulted in indebtedness in excess of \$15,000,000 becoming due and payable prior to the date on which it would otherwise have become due and payable, without such indebtedness having been discharged or such acceleration having been rescinded or annulled within 30 days after the date on which written notice thereof is given to the Company by the Trustee or to the Company and the Trustee by Holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the 2028 debentures then outstanding; or (e) certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization in respect of the Company. The Trustee may withhold notice to the holders of the 2028 debentures of any default (except in the payment of principal of, premium on or interest on the 2028 debentures) if it considers such withholding to be in the interest of Holders of the 2028 debentures.

On the occurrence of an Event of Default with respect to the 2028 debentures, the Trustee or the holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the 2028 debentures then outstanding may declare the principal and accrued interest thereon to be due and payable immediately.

Within 120 days after the end of each fiscal year, an officer of the Company must inform the Trustee whether such officer knows of any default, describing any such default and the status thereof. Subject to provisions relating to its duties in case of default, the Trustee is under no obligation to exercise any of its rights or powers under the 2028 debenture indenture at the direction of any holders of the 2028 debentures unless the Trustee shall have received a satisfactory indemnity.

### **Defeasance**

The 2028 debenture indenture provides that the Company, at the Company s option, (a) will be discharged from all obligations in respect of the 2028 debentures (except for certain obligations to register the transfer or exchange of debentures, replace stolen, lost or destroyed debentures, maintain paying agencies and hold moneys for payment in trust), or (b) need not comply with the provisions of one or more of Sections 501(5), 1006 and 1007 of the 2028 debenture indenture (relating to cross-acceleration, the incurrence of liens and sale and leaseback transactions, respectively), in each case if the Company irrevocably deposits in trust with the Trustee money or obligations of or guaranteed by the United States of America which through the payment of interest thereon and principal thereof in accordance with their terms will provide money, in an amount sufficient to pay all the principal of (including any mandatory sinking fund payments) and interest on the 2028 debentures on the dates such payments are due in accordance with the terms of the 2028 debentures. To exercise either option, the Company is required to deliver to the Trustee an opinion of counsel to the effect that the deposit and related defeasance would not cause the holders of the 2028 debentures to recognize income, gain or loss for Federal income tax purposes. To exercise the option described in clause (a) above, such opinion must be based on a ruling of the Internal Revenue Service, a regulation of the Treasury Department or a provision of the Internal Revenue Code.

| Т | ab | le | of | Cor | itents |
|---|----|----|----|-----|--------|
|   |    |    |    |     |        |

| Reports and Other Informatio |
|------------------------------|
|------------------------------|

Whether or not required by the SEC, so long as any 2028 debentures are outstanding, the Company will furnish to the holders of the 2028 debentures, within the time periods specified in the SEC s rules and regulations for non-accelerated filers:

- all quarterly and annual financial information that would be required to be contained in a filing with the SEC on Forms 10-Q and 10-K (or any successor or comparable forms) if the Company were required to file such forms, including a Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and, with respect to the annual information only, a report on the annual financial statements by the Company s certified independent accountants; and
- (2) all current reports that would be required to be filed with the SEC on Form 8-K if the Company were required to file such reports.

In addition, whether or not required by the SEC, the Company will file a copy of all of the information and reports referred to in clause (1) and (2) above with the SEC for public availability within the time periods specified in the SEC s rules and regulations (unless the SEC will not accept such a filing) and make such information available to securities analysts and prospective investors upon request.

For so long as our Parent is a guarantor under the 2028 debenture indenture or if at any time any other direct or indirect parent company of the Company is a guarantor of the 2028 debentures, the reports, information and other documents required to be filed and furnished to the holders pursuant to this covenant may, at the option of the Company, be filed by and be those of our Parent or such other parent rather than the Company provided that the same is accompanied by consolidating information that explains in reasonable detail the differences between the information relating to our Parent or such other parent, on one hand, and the information relating to the Company on a standalone basis, on the other hand.

The 2028 debenture indenture requires that the Company shall keep or cause to be kept a register or registers (referred to as the security register ) in which, subject to such reasonable regulations as it may prescribe, the Company shall provide for the registration of the 2028 debentures and for transfers of the 2028 debentures. Any such register shall be in written form or in any other form capable of being converted into written form within a reasonable time. At all reasonable times the information contained in such register or registers shall be available for inspection by the trustee at the office or agency to be maintained by the Company as provided in the 2028 debenture indenture. There shall be only one security register for the 2028 debentures.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **BOOK-ENTRY, DELIVERY AND FORM**

Capitalized terms set forth in this section without definition have the meanings given them elsewhere in this prospectus, including the sections Description of the 2028 Debentures.

The 2028 debentures are represented by one or more global debentures in registered, global form without interest coupons (collectively, the Global Debentures). The Global Debentures were initially deposited upon issuance with the trustees as custodian for The Depository Trust Company (DTC), in New York, New York, and registered in the name of DTC or its nominee, in each case for credit to an account of a direct or indirect participant as described below.

All the 2028 debentures are issued in denominations of \$1,000 and integral multiples thereof in book-entry form only.

Except as set forth below, the Global Debentures may be transferred only to another nominee of DTC or to a successor of DTC or its nominee, in whole and not in part. Except in the limited circumstances described below, beneficial interests in Global Debentures may not be exchanged for notes in certified form and owners of beneficial interests in Global Debentures will not be entitled to receive physical delivery of debentures in certified form. See Exchange of Global Debentures for Certificated Debentures. In addition, transfers of beneficial interests in the Global Debentures will be subject to the applicable rules and procedures of DTC and its direct or indirect participants, which may change from time to time.

Depository Procedures

The following description of the operations and procedures of DTC is provided solely as a matter of convenience. These operations and procedures are solely within the control of the respective settlement systems and are subject to changes by them. We take no responsibility for these operations and procedures and urge investors to contact the system or their participants directly to discuss these matters.

DTC has advised the Company that DTC is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the laws of the State of New York, a banking organization within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a clearing corporation within the meaning of the Uniform Commercial Code and a clearing agency registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Exchange Act. DTC was created to hold securities for its participating organizations (collectively, the participants) and to facilitate the clearance and settlement of transactions in those securities between participants through electronic book-entry changes in accounts of its participants. The participants include securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations. Access to DTC s system is also available to other entities such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a participant, either directly or indirectly (collectively, the indirect participants). Persons who are not participants may beneficially own securities held by or on behalf of DTC only through the participants or the indirect participants. The ownership interests in, and transfers of

ownership interests in, each security held by or on behalf of DTC are recorded on the records of the participants and indirect participants.

# Table of Contents

| DTC has also advised the Company that, pursuant to procedures established by it:   |
|--|
| (1) upon deposit of the Global Debentures, DTC credited the accounts of designated participants with portions of the principal amount of the Global Debentures; and  |
| (2) ownership of these interests in the Global Debentures are shown on, and the transfer of ownership of these interests will be effected only through, records maintained by DTC (with respect to the participants) or by the participants and the indirect participants (with respect to other owners of beneficial interests in the Global Debentures).   |
| Investors in the Global Debentures who are participants in DTC s system may hold their interests therein directly through DTC. Investors in the Global Debentures who are not participants may hold their interests therein indirectly through organizations (including Euroclear and Clearstream) that are participants in DTC. All interests in a Global Debenture will be subject to the procedures and requirements of DTC. The laws of some states require that certain Persons take physical delivery in definitive form of securities that they own. Consequently, the ability to transfer beneficial interests in a Global Debenture to such Persons will be limited to that extent. Because DTC can act only on behalf of participants, which in turn act on behalf of indirect participants, the ability of a Person having beneficial interests in a Global Debenture to pledge such interests to Persons that do not participate in the DTC system, or otherwise take actions in respect of such interests, may be affected by the lack of a physical certificate evidencing such interests. |
| Except as described below, owners of an interest in the Global Debentures will not have debentures registered in their names, will not receive physical delivery of definitive debentures registered in certificated form ( Certificated Debentures ) and will not be considered the registered owners or holders thereof under the applicable Indenture for any purpose.  |
| Payments in respect of the principal of, premium, interest and additional interest, if any, on a Global Debenture registered in the name of DTC or its nominee will be payable to DTC in its capacity as the registered holder under the Indenture. Under the terms of the Indenture, the Company and the trustee will treat the Persons in whose names the 2028 debentures, including the Global Debentures, are registered as the owners of the  |

ownership interests in the Global Debentures or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any of DTC s records or any participant s or indirect

any aspect of DTC s records or any participant s or indirect participant s records relating to or payments made on account of beneficial

2028 debentures for the purpose of receiving payments and for all other purposes. Consequently, neither the Company nor the trustee nor any

agent of the Company or the trustee has or will have any responsibility or liability for:

participant s records relating to the beneficial ownership interests in the Global Debentures; or

#### **Table of Contents**

(2) any other matter relating to the actions and practices of DTC or any of its participants or indirect participants.

DTC has advised the Company that its current practice, upon receipt of any payment in respect of securities such as the 2028 debentures (including principal and interest), is to credit the accounts of the relevant participants with the payment on the payment date unless DTC has reason to believe it will not receive payment on such payment date. Each relevant participant is credited with an amount proportionate to its beneficial ownership of an interest in the principal amount of the relevant security as shown on the records of DTC. Payments by the participants and the indirect participants to the beneficial owners of the 2028 debentures will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices and will be the responsibility of the participants or the indirect participants and will not be the responsibility of DTC, the trustee nor the Company. Neither the Company nor the trustee will be liable for any delay by DTC or any of its participants in identifying the beneficial owners of the 2028 debentures, and the Company and the trustee may conclusively rely on and will be protected in relying on instructions from DTC or its nominee for all purposes.

Transfers between participants in DTC will be effected in accordance with DTC s procedures, and will be settled in same-day funds.

DTC has advised the Company that it will take any action permitted to be taken by a holder of 2028 debentures only at the direction of one or more participants to whose account DTC has credited the interests in the Global Debentures and only in respect of such portion of the aggregate principal amount of the 2028 debentures as to which such participant or participants has or have given such direction. However, if there is an Event of Default under the 2028 debentures, DTC reserves the right to exchange the applicable Global Debentures for legended debentures in certificated form, and to distribute those debentures to its participants.

Although DTC has agreed to the foregoing procedures in order to facilitate transfers of interests in Global Debentures among participants, it is under no obligation to perform those procedures, and may discontinue or change those procedures at any time. Neither the Company nor the trustee nor any of their respective agents will have any responsibility for the performance by DTC or its participants or indirect participants of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations.

Exchange of Global Debentures for Certificated Debentures

If DTC is at any time unwilling or unable to continue as DTC and a successor depository is not appointed by the Company within 90 days, the Company will issue individual debentures in definitive form in exchange for the Global Debentures. In addition, the Company may at any time and in its sole discretion determine not to have the 2028 debentures represented by Global Securities, and, in such event, will issue individual debentures, in definitive form in exchange for the Global Securities. Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, the Company has no present intention to issue individual debentures in definitive form and, except as described in the first sentence of this paragraph, does not currently anticipate that any circumstances will arise under which it would do so. In either instance, the Company will issue debentures in definitive form equal in aggregate principal amount to the Global Securities, in such names and in such principal

## Table of Contents

amounts as DTC shall request. Debentures so issued in definitive form will be issued in dominations of \$1,000 and integral multiples thereof and will be issued in registered form only, without coupons.

Same Day Settlement and Payment

The Company will make payments in respect of debentures represented by Global Debentures (including payments of principal, premium, if any, interest and additional interest by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the accounts specified by DTC or its nominee. The Company will make all payments of principal of and premium, if any, and interest on Certificated Debentures by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the accounts specified by the holders of the Certificated Debentures or, if no such account is specified, by mailing a check to each such holder s registered address. Because of time zone differences, the securities account of a Euroclear or Clearstream participant purchasing an interest in a Global Debenture from a participant will be credited, and any such crediting will be reported to the relevant Euroclear or Clearstream participant, during the securities settlement processing day (which must be a business day for Euroclear and Clearstream) immediately following the settlement date of DTC. DTC has advised the Company that cash received in Euroclear or Clearstream as a result of sales of interests in a Global Debenture by or through a Euroclear or Clearstream participant to a participant will be received with value on the settlement date of DTC but will be available in the relevant Euroclear or Clearstream cash account only as of the business day for Euroclear or Clearstream following DTC s settlement date. The Company expects that secondary trading in any Certificated Debentures will also be settled in immediately available funds.

## **Table of Contents**

#### PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

This prospectus is to be used by Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC in connection with the offers and sales of the registered securities in market-making transactions it effects from time to time. Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC may act as a principal or agent in such transactions, including as agent for the counterparty when acting as principal or as agent for both counterparties, and may receive compensation in the form of discounts and commissions, including from both counterparties when it acts as agent for both. Such sales will be made at prevailing market prices at the time of sale, at prices related thereto or at negotiated prices. We will not receive any of the proceeds from such sales.

Affiliates of Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC are agents, joint bookrunners, joint lead arrangers and lenders under our senior secured credit facilities and receive customary fees in connection therewith. Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC acted as the financial advisor to our Parent and received customary fees in connection with the acquisition. Affiliates of Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC hold approximately 6.9% of the share capital of Newton Holding, LLC and have the contractual right to appoint one member of our board of directors. Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC has, from time to time, provided investment banking and other financial advisory services to us in the past for which it has received customary compensation, and may provide such services and financial advisory services to us in the future. Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC acted as an initial purchaser in connection with the original sale of the notes and received an underwriting discount in connection therewith.

Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC has informed us that it does not intend to confirm sales of the securities to any accounts over which it exercises discretionary authority without the prior specific written approval of such transactions by the customer. We have been advised by Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC that, subject to applicable laws and regulations, Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC intends to make a market in the securities. However, Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC is under no obligation to do so and may interrupt or discontinue any such market-making at any time without notice. In addition, such market-making activity will be subject to the limits imposed by the Securities Act and the Exchange Act. We cannot assure you that an active trading market will be sustained. See Risk Factors Risks Related to the 2028 Debentures We cannot assure you that an active trading market for the 2028 debentures exists or will develop.

#### LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of the 2028 debentures has been passed upon for us by Nelson A. Bangs, our Senior Vice President and General Counsel. In rendering his opinion, Mr. Bangs relied on the opinion of Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton LLP with respect to matters of New York law.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **EXPERTS**

The consolidated financial statements of Neiman Marcus, Inc. appearing in Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended July 31, 2010 (including the schedule appearing therein), and the effectiveness of Neiman Marcus, Inc. s internal control over financial reporting as of July 31, 2010, have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, as set forth in their reports thereon, included therein, and incorporated herein by reference. Such consolidated financial statements are incorporated herein by reference in reliance upon such reports given on the authority of such firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

#### INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN INFORMATION BY REFERENCE

We have incorporated by reference into this prospectus certain information that our Parent files with the SEC. This means that we can disclose important business, financial and other information in the prospectus by referring you to the documents containing this information. All information incorporated by reference is deemed to be part of this prospectus, unless and until that information is updated and superseded by the information contained in this prospectus or any information filed with the SEC and incorporated later. Information which is furnished but not filed with the SEC shall not be incorporated by reference into this prospectus.

We incorporate by reference our Parent s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2010, as filed with the SEC on October 1, 2010. We will provide without charge to each person, including any beneficial owner, to whom a copy of this prospectus is delivered, upon the written or oral request of such person, a copy of our Parent s Annual Report on Form 10-K and our Parent s Current Reports on Form 8-K. Requests should be directed to:

Nelson A. Bangs, Esq.

The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc.

One Marcus Square, 1618 Main Street

Dallas, Texas 75201

Telephone: (214) 741-6911

The documents listed above which have been incorporated into this prospectus are also available through our website at http://www.neimanmarcusgroup.com. The information found on our website is not incorporated into or part of this prospectus.

The information incorporated by reference is an important part of this prospectus. You should rely only upon the information provided in this prospectus and the information incorporated into this prospectus by reference. Neither we nor Neiman Marcus, Inc. have authorized anyone to provide you with different information. You should not assume that the information in this prospectus is accurate as of any date other than the date of this prospectus.

You should not rely on or assume the accuracy of any representation or warranty in any agreement that we have filed as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part or that we otherwise have publicly filed or may publicly file in the future because such representation or warranty may be subject to exceptions and qualifications contained in separate disclosure schedules, may have been included in such agreement for the purpose of allocating risk between the parties to the particular transaction, and may no longer continue to be true as of any given date.

| Table of Contents |                                   |
|-------------------|-----------------------------------|
|                   | The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc.     |
|                   | 7.125% Senior Debentures due 2028 |
|                   |                                   |
|                   | PROSPECTUS                        |
|                   | , 2010                            |
|                   |                                   |

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **PART II**

### INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

#### Item 13. Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution.

The estimated expenses incurred or expected to be incurred in connection with this registration statement and the transactions contemplated hereby, all of which will be borne by us, are as follows:

| Printing expenses | \$<br>75,000  |
|-------------------|---------------|
| Legal fees        | 175,000       |
| Accounting fees   | 80,000        |
| Miscellaneous     | 20,000        |
| Total             | \$<br>350,000 |

#### Item 14. Indemnification of Directors and Officers.

The following is a summary of the statutes, charter and bylaw provisions or other arrangements under which the Registrants directors and officers are insured or indemnified against liability in their capacities as such. All of the directors and officers of the Registrants are covered by insurance policies maintained and held in effect by Neiman Marcus, Inc. against certain liabilities for actions taken in their capacities as such, including liabilities under the Securities Act.

Neiman Marcus, Inc. and The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. are organized under the laws of the State of Delaware. Section 145 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the Delaware Statute) provides that a Delaware corporation may indemnify any persons who are, or are threatened to be made, parties to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (a proceeding), other than an action by or in the right of such corporation, by reason of the fact that such person is or was an officer, director, employee or agent of such corporation, or is or was serving at the request of such corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation or enterprise (an indemnified capacity). The indemnity may include expenses, including attorneys fees, judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection with such action, suit or proceeding, provided such person acted in good faith and in a manner he reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the corporation s best interests and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe that his conduct was illegal. Similar provisions apply to actions brought by or in the right of the corporation, except that no indemnification shall be made without judicial approval if the officer or director is adjudged to be liable to the corporation. Where an officer or director is successful on the merits or otherwise in the defense of any action referred to above, the corporation must indemnify him against the expenses which such officer or director has actually and reasonably incurred. Section 145 of the Delaware Statute further authorizes a corporation to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any indemnified person against any liability asserted against him and incurred by him in any indemnified capacity, or arising out of his status as such, regardless

#### **Table of Contents**

of whether the corporation would otherwise have the power to indemnify him under the Delaware Statute.

The amended and restated certificate of incorporation of Neiman Marcus, Inc. provides that the company shall, to the full extent permitted by the Delaware statute, indemnify all persons whom it may indemnify pursuant thereto.

The bylaws of The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. provide for indemnification of any director or officer to the fullest extent permitted by law, as long as he or she acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the company and, with respect to any criminal action, had no reason to believe his or her conduct was unlawful. In addition, for actions by or in the right of the corporation, no indemnification shall be made where the director or officer has been adjudged to be liable to the company, unless and only to the extent that the court in which the action was brought determines that, despite the adjudication of liability, such person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity. In all cases, unless indemnification is ordered by a court, determination that indemnification is properly authorized under the bylaws shall be made by the shareholders, or a majority vote of the directors not party to the action or of the members of a committee of the board not party to the action, or by independent legal counsel by written legal opinion. Finally, the bylaws also provide that the company may purchase or maintain insurance on behalf of a current or former director, officer, employee or agent against any liability asserted against him or incurred by him in any such capacity, whether or not the company would have the power or the obligation to indemnify him against such liability.

#### Item 15. Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities.

Since July 28, 2007, the registrants have issued and sold the following securities without registration under the Securities Act.

- On January 21, 2008, Karen W. Katz gifted 944 shares of common stock owned by her to the Katz 2008 Irrevocable Trust. The shares of Parent common stock were issued in reliance on the exemption from registration set forth in Section 4(2) of the Securities Act and the certificate representing the securities issued in this transaction included appropriate legends setting forth that the securities had not been offered or sold pursuant to a registration statement and describing the applicable restrictions on transfer of the securities.
- On May 1, 2010, Thomas P. Stangle gifted 173.0104 shares of common stock owned by him to the Thomas P. & Vicki M. Stangle Family Living Trust. The shares of Parent common stock were issued in reliance on the exemption from registration set forth in Section 4(2) of the Securities Act and the certificate representing the securities issued in this transaction included appropriate legends setting forth that the securities had not been offered or sold pursuant to a registration statement and describing the applicable restrictions on transfer of the securities.
- On September 21, 2010, Burton M. Tansky exercised options in a net physical settlement to purchase 3,742.2145 shares of common stock of Parent at an exercise

## Table of Contents

| price of \$361.25 per share and gifted 1,833.0526 shares to the Tansky Family 2007 Children and Grandchildren Trusts. The shares of Parent         |
|--|
| common stock were issued in reliance on the exemption from registration set forth in Section 4(2) of the Securities Act and the certificate        |
| representing the securities issued in this transaction included appropriate legends setting forth that the securities had not been offered or sold |
| pursuant to a registration statement and describing the applicable restrictions on transfer of the securities.                                     |

| Item 16. Exhibits                            | and Financial Statement Schedule.  |
|--|--|
| (a)  | Exhibits   |
| A list of exhibits fi is incorporated in the | led with this Post-Effective Amendment No. 7 to the registration statement on Form S-1 is set forth on the Exhibit Index and his Item 16(a) by reference.        |
| (b)  | Financial Statement Schedule   |
|  | tion and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves included in our Parent s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended porated by reference in this prospectus. |
| Item 17. Underta                             | kings.   |
| Each of the undersi                          | gned registrants hereby undertakes as follows:   |
| (1) statement:                               | To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration  |
| (A)  | To include any prospectus required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933.  |
|  |  |

(B) To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the most recent post-effective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in the registration statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in the volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which was registered) and any deviation from the low or high of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in the form of prospectus filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume

and price represent no more than a 20% change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the Calculation of Registration Fee table in the effective registration statement.

(C) To include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the registration statement or any material change to such information in the registration statement.

II-3

## Table of Contents

|   | That, for the purpose of determining liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such post-effective amendment shall ew registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be itial bona fide offering thereof.   |
|---|---|
| (3) unsold at the termin  | To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain ation of the exchange offer.   |
| statements relying of<br>registration statement<br>prospectus that is pa<br>statement or prospec<br>supersede or modify | that, for the purpose of determining liability under the Securities Act of 1933 to any purchaser, if the registrants are subject prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) as part of a registration statement relating to an offering, other than registration on Rule 430B or other than prospectuses filed in reliance on Rule 430A, shall be deemed to be part of and included in the not as of the date it is first used after effectiveness. Provided, however, that no statement made in a registration statement or art of the registration statement or made in a document incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference into the registration ctus that is part of the registration statement will, as to a purchaser with a time of contract of sale prior to such first use, any statement that was made in the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or made not immediately prior to such date of first use; and |
| pursuant to this regi<br>offered or sold to su  | that, for the purpose of determining liability of the registrants under the Securities Act of 1933 to any purchaser in the f the securities: The undersigned registrants undertake that in a primary offering of securities of the undersigned registrants stration statement, regardless of the underwriting method used to sell the securities to the purchaser, if the securities are uch purchaser by means of any of the following communications, the undersigned registrants will be sellers to the purchaser red to offer or sell such securities to such purchaser:  |
| (A)<br>to Rule 424;   | Any preliminary prospectus or prospectus of the undersigned registrants relating to the offering required to be filed pursuan   |
| (B) referred to by the un   | Any free writing prospectus relating to the offering prepared by or on behalf of the undersigned registrants or used or idersigned registrants;   |
| (C)<br>undersigned registra   | The portion of any other free writing prospectus relating to the offering containing material information about the ants or their securities provided by or on behalf of the undersigned registrants; and   |
| (D)   | Any other communication that is an offer in the offering made by the undersigned registrants to the purchaser.  |
| (6) controlling the regis   | Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers or persons strants pursuant to the provisions described under Item 20 or otherwise, the registrants have been advised that in the opinion   |

of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrants of expenses

## Table of Contents

incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrants will, unless in the opinion of counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

II-5

## Table of Contents

## **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. has duly caused this Post-Effective Amendment No. 7 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Dallas, State of Texas, on the 8th day of October, 2010.

## THE NEIMAN MARCUS GROUP, INC.

By: /s/ NELSON A. BANGS Nelson A. Bangs Senior Vice President

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this Post-Effective Amendment No. 7 to the Registration Statement and power of attorney have been signed by the following persons in the capacities indicated on the 8th day of October, 2010.

| Signature            | Capacity  |                 | Date |
|----------------------|---|-----------------|------|
| * Karen W. Katz      | President and Chief Executive<br>Officer  | October 8, 2010 |      |
| * James E. Skinner   | Executive Vice President, Chief<br>Operating Officer and Chief<br>Financial Officer | October 8, 2010 |      |
| * T. Dale Stapleton  | Senior Vice President and Chief<br>Accounting Officer                               | October 8, 2010 |      |
| *<br>David A. Barr   | Director  | October 8, 2010 |      |
| *<br>Jonathan Coslet | Director  | October 8, 2010 |      |
| * James G. Coulter   | Director  | October 8, 2010 |      |
| * John G. Danhakl    | Director  | October 8, 2010 |      |
| * Sidney Lapidus     | Director  | October 8, 2010 |      |
| * Kewsong Lee        | Director  | October 8, 2010 |      |
| *<br>Carrie Wheeler  | Director  | October 8, 2010 |      |

\*By: /s/ NELSON A. BANGS Nelson A. Bangs, as attorney-in-fact

#### Table of Contents

#### **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, Neiman Marcus, Inc. has duly caused this Post-Effective Amendment No. 7 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Dallas, State of Texas, on the 8th day of October, 2010.

#### NEIMAN MARCUS, INC.

By: /s/ NELSON A. BANGS Nelson A. Bangs

Senior Vice President

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this Post-Effective Amendment No. 7 to the Registration Statement and power of attorney have been signed by the following persons in the capacities indicated on the 8th day of October, 2010.

| Signature            | Capacity  |                 | Date |
|----------------------|---|-----------------|------|
| * Karen W. Katz      | President and Chief Executive<br>Officer  | October 8, 2010 |      |
| * James E. Skinner   | Executive Vice President, Chief<br>Operating Officer and Chief<br>Financial Officer | October 8, 2010 |      |
| * T. Dale Stapleton  | Senior Vice President and Chief<br>Accounting Officer                               | October 8, 2010 |      |
| *<br>David A. Barr   | Director  | October 8, 2010 |      |
| *<br>Jonathan Coslet | Director  | October 8, 2010 |      |
| * James G. Coulter   | Director  | October 8, 2010 |      |
| * John G. Danhakl    | Director  | October 8, 2010 |      |
| * Sidney Lapidus     | Director  | October 8, 2010 |      |
| * Kewsong Lee        | Director  | October 8, 2010 |      |
| *<br>Carrie Wheeler  | Director  | October 8, 2010 |      |

\*By: /s/ NELSON A. BANGS Nelson A. Bangs, as attorney-in-fact

## Table of Contents

## EXHIBIT INDEX

| Exhibit No. | Exhibit   |
|-------------|---|
| 2.1         | Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated May 1, 2005, among The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc., Newton Acquisition, Inc., and Newton Merger Sub, Inc., incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K dated July 31, 2010.  |
| 2.2         | Purchase, Sale and Servicing Transfer Agreement dated as of June 8, 2005, among The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc., Bergdorf Goodman, Inc., HSBC Bank Nevada, N.A. and HSBC Finance Corporation, incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K dated July 31, 2010. |
| 3.1         | Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc., incorporated herein by reference to The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-133184) dated April 10, 2006   |
| 3.2         | Amended and Restated Bylaws of The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc., incorporated herein by reference to The Neiman Marcu Group, Inc. s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-133184) dated April 10, 2006.   |
| 3.3         | Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Neiman Marcus, Inc., incorporated herein by reference to The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-133184) dated April 10, 2006.  |
| 3.4         | Amended and Restated By-Laws of Neiman Marcus, Inc., incorporated herein by reference to The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-133184) dated April 10, 2006.   |
| 4.1         | Indenture, dated as of May 27, 1998, between The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. and The Bank of New York, as trustee, incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 1 2009.  |
| 4.2         | Form of 7.125% Senior Notes Due 2028, dated May 27, 1998, incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 1, 2009.  |
| 4.3         | Senior Indenture dated as of October 6, 2005, among Newton Acquisition, Inc., Newton Acquisition Merger Sub, Inc., the Subsidiary Guarantors, and Wells Fargo Bank, National  |
|             | II-8  |

#### **Table of Contents**

Association, trustee, incorporated herein by reference to The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 12, 2005.

- 4.4 Senior Subordinated Indenture dated as of October 6, 2005, among Newton Acquisition, Inc., Newton Acquisition Merger Sub, Inc., the Subsidiary Guarantors, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, trustee, incorporated herein by reference to The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 12, 2005.
- 4.5 Form of 9%/9 3/4% Senior Notes due 2015, incorporated herein by reference to The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 12, 2005.
- 4.6 Form of 10 3/8% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2015, incorporated herein by reference to The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 12, 2005.
- 4.7 Registration Rights Agreement dated October 6, 2005, among Newton Acquisition, Inc., Newton Acquisition Merger Sub, Inc., the Subsidiary Guarantors, The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc., and the Initial Purchasers, incorporated herein by reference to The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 12, 2005.
- 4.8 First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 11, 2006, to the Indenture, dated as of May 27, 1998, among The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc., Neiman Marcus, Inc., and The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A., as successor trustee, incorporated herein by reference to The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. s Current Report on Form 8-K dated July 11, 2006.
- 4.9 Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 14, 2006, to the Indenture, dated as of May 27, 1998, among The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc., Neiman Marcus, Inc., and The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A., as successor trustee, incorporated herein by reference to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 15, 2006.
- 5.1 Opinion of Nelson A. Bangs, Esq. (1)
- 5.2 Opinion of Cleary Gottlieb Steen and Hamilton LLP. (1)
- 10.1 Employment Agreement dated as of October 6, 2005 by and among The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc., Newton Acquisition Merger Sub, Inc., Newton Acquisition, Inc., and Burton M. Tansky, incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 1, 2009.

|      | II-10  |
|------|--|
| 10.9 | Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of July 15, 2009, among The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc., the Company the other borrowers and guarantors named therein, Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent and co-collateral agent, Wells Fargo Retail   |
| 10.8 | Director Services Agreement dated April 26, 2010 by and among Neiman Marcus, Inc., The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc., and Burton M. Tansky incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Current Report on Form 8-K dated April 28, 2010.  |
| 10.7 | Second Amendment to Letter Agreement dated April 26, 2010 by and between Neiman Marcus, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and Burton M. Tansky incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Current Report on Form 8-H dated April 28, 2010.  |
| 10.6 | Form of Rollover Agreement by and among The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc., Newton Acquisition, Inc. and certain members of management, incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 1, 2009.  |
| 10.5 | Amendment to Letter Agreement effective as of January 1, 2009 by and between Neiman Marcus, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and Burton M. Tansky incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 31, 2009.   |
| 10.4 | Rollover Agreement dated as of October 4, 2005 by and among The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc., Newton Acquisition, Inc., and Burton M. Tansky, incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 1, 2009.  |
| 10.3 | Second Amendment to Employment Agreement by and between The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation, Neiman Marcus, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and Burton M. Tansky effective January 1, 2009 incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 31, 2009. |
| 10.2 | Neiman Marcus, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and Burton M. Tansky effective December 21, 2007 incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 21, 2007.  |

#### **Table of Contents**

Finance, LLC as co-collateral agent, Banc of America Securities LLC, Wells Fargo Retail Finance, LLC, J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. and Regions Business Capital Corporation as joint lead arrangers and joint bookrunners, Wells Fargo Retail Finance, LLC as syndication agent, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and Regions Bank as co-documentation agents and the lenders thereunder, incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Current Report on Form 8-K dated July 16, 2009.

- 10.10 Credit Agreement dated as of October 6, 2005, among Newton Acquisition, Inc., Newton Acquisition Merger Sub, Inc., The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc., the Subsidiary Guarantors, Credit Suisse, as administrative agent and collateral agent, Credit Suisse and Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. as joint lead arrangers, Banc of America Securities LLC and Goldman Sachs Credit Partners L.P. as co-arrangers, Credit Suisse, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., Banc of America Securities LLC and Goldman Sachs Credit Partners L.P. as joint bookrunners, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., Banc of America Securities LLC and Goldman Sachs Credit Partners L.P. as co-syndication agents and the lenders thereunder, incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 1, 2009. (4)
- Amended and Restated Pledge and Security Agreement dated as of July 15, 2009 by and among The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc., the Company, subsidiaries named therein and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent and co-collateral agent, incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Current Report on Form 8-K dated July 16, 2009.
- Substitution of Agent and Joinder Agreement, dated as of July 15, 2009, among Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, Credit Suisse and Bank of America, N.A., incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Current Report on Form 8-K dated July 16, 2009.
- 10.13 Pledge and Security and Intercreditor Agreement dated as of October 6, 2005, among Newton Acquisition Merger Sub, Inc., The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc., Newton Acquisition, Inc., the Subsidiary Guarantors and Credit Suisse, as administrative agent and collateral agent, incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 1, 2009.
- 10.14 Lien Subordination and Intercreditor Agreement dated as of October 6, 2005, among Newton Acquisition, Inc., Newton Acquisition Merger Sub, Inc., the Subsidiary Guarantors, Deutsche

## Table of Contents

|       | Bank Trust Company Americas, as revolving facility agent, and Credit Suisse, as term loan agent, incorporated herein by reference to The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 12, 2005.   |
|-------|---|
| 10.15 | Form of First Priority Mortgage, Assignment of Leases and Rents, Security Agreement and Financing Statement from The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. to Credit Suisse, incorporated herein by reference to The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 12, 2005.   |
| 10.16 | Form of First Priority Leasehold Mortgage, Assignment of Leases and Rents, Security Agreement and Financing Statement from The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. to Credit Suisse, incorporated herein by reference to The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 12, 2005.   |
| 10.17 | Form of Second Priority Mortgage, Assignment of Leases and Rents, Security Agreement and Financing Statement from The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. to Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, incorporated herein by reference to The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 12, 2005.   |
| 10.18 | Form of Second Priority Leasehold Mortgage, Assignment of Lease and Rents, Security Agreement and Financing Statement from The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. to Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, incorporated herein by reference to The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 12, 2005.  |
| 10.19 | Amendment No. 1 dated as of October 6, 2005 to the Credit Agreement dated as of October 6, 2005 among The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc., Newton Acquisition, Inc., each subsidiary of The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. from time to time party thereto, the Lenders thereunder, and Credit Suisse, as administrative agent and as collateral agent for the Lenders, incorporated herein by reference to The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 12, 2005. |
| 10.20 | Newton Acquisition, Inc. Management Equity Incentive Plan, incorporated herein by reference to The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 5, 2005.   |
| 10.21 | Amendment to the Newton Acquisition, Inc. Management Equity Incentive Plan effective as of January 1, 2009 incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 31, 2009.  |

| 10.22 | Stock Option Grant Agreement made as of November 29, 2005 between Newton Acquisition, Inc. and Burton M. Tansky, incorporated herein by reference to The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 5, 2005.  |
|-------|--|
| 10.23 | Amendment to the Stock Option Grant Agreement effective as of January 1, 2009 by and between Neiman Marcus, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and Burton M. Tansky incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 31, 2009.   |
| 10.24 | Form of Stock Option Grant Agreement made as of November 29, 2005 between Newton Acquisition, Inc. and certain eligible key employees, incorporated herein by reference to The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 5, 2005.  |
| 10.25 | Amendment to the Form of Stock Option Grant Agreement effective as of January 1, 2009 by and between Neiman Marcus, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and certain eligible key employees incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 31, 2009.   |
| 10.26 | Amended and Restated Stock Option Grant Agreement dated April 1, 2010 between Neiman Marcus, Inc. and Burton M. Tansky, incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Current Report on Form 8-K dated April 28, 2010.   |
| 10.27 | Amendment No. 2 dated as of January 26, 2006 to the Credit Agreement dated as of October 6, 2005, as amended, among The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc., Newton Acquisition, Inc., each subsidiary of The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. from time to time party thereto, the Lenders thereunder and Credit Suisse, as administrative agent and collateral agent for the Lenders, incorporated by reference to The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. s Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 30, 2006. |
| 10.28 | Employment Agreement between The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. and Karen Katz, dated February 1, 2006, effective as of October 6, 2005, incorporated herein by reference to The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. s Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 1, 2006.   |
| 10.29 | Amendment to Employment Agreement effective as of January 1, 2009 by and between The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and Karen Katz incorporated herein by reference to   |

|       | Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 31, 2009.   |
|-------|---|
| 10.30 | Employment Agreement dated April 26, 2010 by and between The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. and Karen Katz, incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Current Report on Form 8-K dated April 28, 2010.   |
| 10.31 | Management Services Agreement, dated as of October 6, 2005 among Newton Acquisition Merger Sub, Inc., Newton Acquisition, Inc., TPG GenPar IV, L.P., TPG GenPar III, L.P. and Warburg Pincus LLC incorporated herein by reference to The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 28, 2006.  |
| 10.32 | Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of October 6, 2005, among Newton Acquisition Merger Sub, Inc., Newton Acquisition, Inc., Newton Holding, LLC and the Holders identified therein as parties thereto incorporated herein by reference to The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 28, 2006.  |
| 10.33 | Amendment No. 1, dated as of March 28, 2006, to the Pledge and Security Intercreditor Agreement dated as of October 6, 2005, among Neiman Marcus, Inc., The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc., the Subsidiaries party thereto and Credit Suisse, as administrative agent and collateral agent, incorporated herein by reference to The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. s Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 29, 2006. |
| 10.34 | Amended and Restated Credit Card Program Agreement, dated as of September 23, 2010, by and among The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc., Bergdorf Goodman, Inc., HSBC Bank Nevada, N.A. and HSBC Card Services, Inc., incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2010. (4)  |
| 10.35 | Amended and Restated Servicing Agreement, dated as of September 23, 2010, by and between The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. and HSBC Bank Nevada, N.A., incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2010. (4)  |
| 10.36 | Confidentiality, Non-Competition and Termination Benefits Agreement by and between Bergdorf Goodman, Inc., a New York corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. and James J. Gold dated May 3, 2004, incorporated  |

|       | herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 30, 2010.  |
|-------|---|
| 10.37 | Amendment to the Confidentiality, Non-Competition and Termination Benefits Agreement effective as of January 1, 2009 by and between Bergdorf Goodman, Inc., a New York corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. and James J. Gold incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 31, 2009.   |
| 10.38 | Form of Amendment to the Confidentiality, Non-Competition and Termination Benefits Agreement effective as of January 1, 2009 by and between The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and certain eligible key employees incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 31, 2009.   |
| 10.39 | Stockholder Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2005, among Newton Acquisition, Inc., Newton Acquisition Merger Sub, Inc. and the other parties signatory thereto, incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 1, 2010.   |
| 10.40 | Neiman Marcus, Inc. Cash Incentive Plan amended as of January 21, 2008, incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 26, 2008.   |
| 10.41 | Management Stockholders Agreement dated as of October 6, 2005 between Newton Acquisition, Inc., Newton Holding, LLC, TPG Newton III, LLC, TPG Partners IV, L.P., TPG Newton Co-Invest I, LLC, Warburg Pincus Private Equity VIII, L.P., Warburg Pincus Netherlands Private Equity VIII C.V. I, Warburg Pincus Germany Private Equity VIII K.G, Warburg Pincus Private Equity IX, L.P., and the other parties signatory thereto, incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 29, 2006. |
| 10.42 | Amendment to the Management Stockholders Agreement effective as of January 1, 2009 by and between Neiman Marcus, Inc., a Delaware corporation, Newton Holding, LLC, TPG Newton III, LLC, TPG Partners IV, L.P., TPG Newton Co-Invest I, LLC, Warburg Pincus Private Equity VIII, L.P., Warburg Pincus Netherlands Private Equity VIII C.V. I, Warburg Pincus Germany Private Equity VIII K.G., Warburg Pincus Private Equity IX, L.P., and the other parties signatory thereto, incorporated herein by  |

|       | reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 31, 2009.  |
|-------|---|
| 10.43 | The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. Key Employee Deferred Compensation Plan, as amended and restated effective January 1, 2008, incorporated herein by reference to the Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 26, 2008.                                 |
| 10.44 | Amendment No. 1 effective as of January 1, 2009 to The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. Key Employee Deferred Compensation Plan incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 31, 2009.                                    |
| 10.45 | The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan as amended and restated effective January 1, 2009, incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 31, 2009.                                     |
| 10.46 | The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. Defined Contribution Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, as amended and restated effective as of January 1, 2008, incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 2, 2008.          |
| 10.47 | Amendment No. 1 effective January 1, 2009 to the Amended and Restated Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. Defined Contribution Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 31, 2009. |
| 10.48 | Second Amendment to the Neiman Marcus, Inc. Management Equity Incentive Plan effective as of November 16, 2009, incorporated herein by reference to the Company s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended October 31, 2009.   |
| 10.49 | Form of Amended and Restated Stock Option Agreement between the Company and certain eligible key employees, incorporated herein by reference to the Company s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended October 31, 2009.   |
| 10.50 | Form of Second Amended and Restated Stock Option Grant Agreement between the Company and certain eligible key employees, incorporated herein by reference to the Company s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended October 31, 2009.  |
|       |   |

| 10.51 | Employment Agreement dated July 22, 2010 by and among the Company, The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc., and James E. Skinner, incorporated herein by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated July 28, 2010.  |
|-------|--|
| 10.52 | Employment Agreement dated July 22, 2010 by and among the Company, The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc., and James J. Gold, incorporated herein by reference to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K dated July 28, 2010.   |
| 10.53 | Form of First Amendment to Second Priority Mortgage, Assignment of Leases and Rents, Security Agreement and Financing Statement from The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. to Bank of America, N.A, incorporated herein by reference to the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 1, 2009. |
| 10.54 | Amendment No. 2 to the Amended and Restated Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. Defined Contribution Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan dated July 17, 2010 incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2010.                                |
| 10.55 | Amendment No. 1 to The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan dated July 17, 2010 incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2010.  |
| 12.1  | Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges, incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2010.   |
| 14.1  | The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. Code of Ethics and Conduct, incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2010.  |
| 14.2  | The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. Code of Ethics for Financial Professionals, incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2010.  |
| 21.1  | Subsidiaries of Neiman Marcus, Inc., incorporated herein by reference to Neiman Marcus, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2010.   |
|       |  |

#### Table of Contents

| 23.1 | Consent of Ernst & Young LLP. (2)   |
|------|---|
| 23.3 | Consent of Nelson A. Bangs, Esq. (included in Exhibit 5.1). (1)   |
| 23.4 | Consent of Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton LLP (included in Exhibit 5.2). (1)  |
| 24.1 | Powers of Attorney, except with respect to Ms. Katz. (1)  |
| 24.2 | Power of Attorney for Ms. Katz. (2)   |
| 25.1 | Form T-1 statement of eligibility under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, of The Bank of New York, as trustee. (3) |

<sup>(1)</sup> Previously filed

(4) Portions of these exhibits were omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment.

<sup>(2)</sup> Filed herewith

<sup>(3)</sup> Filed with The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc. s Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-49893) dated April 10, 1998.